s Yy

ANNUAL REPORT

20257




16

23

44

60

89

95

96

98

99

101

172

CONTENTS
5 8%

Corporate Information
NEIER
Chairman’s Statement
FTERS

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE TR

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEAEREERBRENB

Corporate Governance Report

TEERRS

Report of the Directors

EEgRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -HERERRS

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

relEnkHEMEEW AR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RERBARRR

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A HEREBE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RERERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ROV BN

Financial Summary

MHHE



CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS,

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wan Man Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ka Wai (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex

Mr. Cheng Sum Hing

Ms. Ng Ching Ying

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Ms. Ng Ching Ying (Chairladly)
Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wan Man Keung

Mr. Cheng Sum Hing

Nomination Committee

Mr. Cheng Sum Hing (Chairman)
Mr. Wan Man Keung
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Leung Ka Wai
Mr. Yip Chi Fai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yip Chi Fai

AUDITORS
Cheng & Cheng Limited

EE=g

HITES

FRBSEE (Z/F)
RRESCE (TEABH)
FHATESE
CEE-Loh s
BWIIFPITES

RERAE
BHRESE

wNESE
SERIE (Z/F)
FR®WSEE
HP R S
RBZERG
WAL (Z/8)
FR®SE
RERIE
REAR
RRESE
BEBELE
NEME
BEIBEE

23 -l

BERESTMEBIAERAT

2 REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT



CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEN

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

QOcorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3
Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350
Grand Cayman
KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL OFFICE
OF BUSINESS

Unit 5, 4/F

Chai Wan Industrial City Phase I
No. 70 Wing Tai Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.rem-group.com.hk

STOCK CODE
1750

FERMBRESKE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

BERRMBREL DR

SERFELARAE
£
BEREIRERE/MPOI7IE

RS AR

Windward 3
Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350
Grand Cayman
KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

MR E EEE AL

&8
K ZRIBT058

41E5=E

NI

http://www.rem-group.com.hk

Bz {5 X5k

1750

Annual Report 2023 — &~ = FF



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of REM Group (Holdings) Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year 2023”) to the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

The Group is principally engaged as a manufacturer and supplier
of low-voltage electrical power distribution and control devices
for various types of private and public building projects including
infrastructural, commercial and residential building projects in Hong
Kong, Macau and Mainland China.

The Hong Kong economy continued on the path of recovery in
Year 2023, supported by COVID-19 restrictions were lifted, the
Government has launched various support initiatives to private
consumption and Inbound tourism. However, the rising interest rates,
inflation and tight financial conditions led by increasing geopoailitical
tensions would continue to weigh on exports of goods and
consumption sentiments.

Despite the aforementioned challenges and uncertainties, and the
Group’s revenue decreased by approximately HK$52.5 million, from
approximately HK$219.3 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year 2022”) to approximately HK$166.8 million for the Year 2023.
The Group has recorded a net profit of approximately HK$7.0 million
for the Year 2023 as compared with net profit of approximately of
HK$8.3 million for the Year 2022.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRS

Looking ahead, post-pandemic road towards full recovery, the
Group’s management will continue to take proactive measures to
reduce the operational risks of the Group, enhance operational
efficiency, implement effective cost control and manage its cash flow.
The Group will also continue to closely monitor the market conditions
and will make timely adjustments to its business strategies when
necessary. The Group is optimistic of the existing business in order
to drive the Group’s sustainable growth and strengthen its financial
position.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to extend my sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, investors and
business partners for their continuous trust and support in the past,
as well as thank my fellow Directors, management team and all our
staff for their continuous hard work and dedication during the past
year.

Wan Man Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERROH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a renowned manufacturer and supplier of low-voltage
electrical power distribution and control devices in Hong Kong, Macau
and Mainland China.

During the year under review, the impact of COVID-19 has been
eventually eliminated. The Group continues to implement the cost
control strategies on production and also minimized the operating
expenses strictly in order to turn losses into profits. The Group also
improved the variety and enhanced the quality of our products,
diversified our sales network and expanded our customer base in
order to achieve sustainable growth for our business.

The Group’s revenue significantly decreased by approximately 23.9%
during the Year 2023. Revenue attributable to sales in Hong Kong,
Macau and Mainland China amounted to approximately HK$146.2
million, approximately HK$14.4 million and approximately HK$6.2
million, respectively, for the Year 2023. (Year 2022: approximately
HK$172.8 million, approximately HK$33.6 million and approximately
HK$12.9 million, respectively).

The Group recorded a net profit for the year of approximately HK$7.0
million for Year 2023, compared with a net profit of approximately
HK$8.3 million for the Year 2022. The decrease in net profit after tax
was mainly attributable to the decrease of revenue during the Year
2023.

MARKET PROSPECT

With the relaxation on the travel and social distancing restrictions
during the year, the construction market showed signs of recovery.
However, the Group is still facing the pressure from the global
economic environment. With the uncertainties of the wars between
Russia-Ukraine; and Israel-Hamas, the rising of interest rates and
the continuous inflation, the Group still need to remain proactive and
taking necessary actions to ensure the impact to the Group can be
minimized.

2 755 [0 8

FEEREE RFIRTEAMBR 2 EEEE
Eh R ERE R HERE-

MR EIBEEE > COVID- 19N EBR K HR - AEH
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁli?ﬁkjﬂ"ﬂﬁ%mﬁ’I%*%?“%JMAE

CBREAESE - AEEIINE EmamiE R
“’ ZRCHERBREATFER UEERX
BREER-

AEEBR_ZE=FENKRTZABRLH
23.9% M_E=FE RKEFE EMKRTH
WA E N D R4 A146. 2B B AT 4914.4
BEATKA6CEBET (CEZFE . 95
AE172. 8B B BT 4I83.6AB BT KN12.98
BB °

A TECZFEAERERFSEEMFN7.0R
BET B _FEHRSMAAN83EE
AT BRRBMAMN AL EBEHAR -_E-_=FERN
FRELEWRARL

M iZEIR

P A F E IR BN X EERE PR BRI MER > B E ™
GRTERRR AN AEBNEEEREE
ISERIBNE ] - AR B S RGBT BT
EM-NXEANFENBERR ~&EBNF
REFRBEE KL ETE > UERYAEE
R ER/NME.

6 REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE255EE (TR BRAFT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue significant decreased by approximately HK$52.5
million, or approximately 23.9%, from approximately HK$219.3 million
for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$166.8 million for the Year
2023. Such decrease was directly attributable to the completion of
the project of a General Hospital building in Macau in Year 2022.

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales amounted to approximately HK$124.9
million for the Year 2023 representing an decrease of approximately
29.6% from approximately HK$177.3 million for the Year 2022.
Such decrease was mainly due to the enforcement of cost control
strategies in the Group throughout the year. Cost of sales mainly
comprised of costs of raw materials and staff costs, which accounted
for approximately 76.2% and 15.6% respectively of the Group’s total
cost of sales for the Year 2023 (Year 2022: approximately 86.1% and
12.3%, respectively).

Gross profit/Gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit remained stable at approximately HK$41.9
million for both the Years 2022 and 2023. The overall gross profit
margin of the Group simultaneously increased from approximately
19.1% for the Year 2022 to approximately 25.1% for the Year 2023.
The increase of gross margin was mainly due to the decrease of cost
of sales as a series of cost saving measures were implemented during
the year.

Other income, gains and losses

The Group’s other income, gains and losses significantly decreased
by approximately HK$1.4 million, from approximately HK$4.1 million
net gain for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$2.7 million net
gain for the Year 2023. The amount of other income was mainly
attributable to (i) the bank interest income of approximately HK$1.3
million, (i) the exchange gain of approximately HK$0.5 million
and (jii) subsidies provided by the Mainland China government of
approximately HK$0.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

FINANCIAL REVIEW continueq)
Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by
approximately HK$2.5 million, or approximately 30.5%, from
approximately HK$8.2 million for the Year 2022 to approximately
HK$5.7 million for the Year 2023 which was in line with the decrease
of sales during the year.

Administrative and other expenses

The Group’s administrative and other expenses increased by
approximately HK$1.7 million, or approximately 5.9%, from
approximately HK$28.9 million for the Year 2022 to approximately
HK$30.6 million for the Year 2023. The increase was mainly due to
(i) the increase in amortization of testing fee of approximately HK$0.8
million and (i) the increase in depreciation of right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$0.3 million.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased from approximately HK$0.6
million for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$0.3 million for the Year
2023. The decrease was mainly due to lower interest expenses on
other loans was recorded as part of the short-term loans were repaid
during the year.

Taxation

The Group recorded an income tax expense of approximately
HK$985,000 for Year 2023 as compared to that of approximately
HK$31,000 for Year 2022. The income tax expenses mainly arose
from the provision of Hong Kong Profits tax as the tax losses carried
forward was fully utilized during the year.

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company

As a result of the decrease in revenue, there was a net profit for the
year attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$7.0 million for Year 2023, as compared with a net profit for the
year attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$8.3 million for Year 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group has funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through cash inflows from operating activities and proceeds
received from its listing on the Stock Exchange on 11 May 2018 (the
“Listing”). There had been no change in the capital structure of the
Group since the Listing.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash
of approximately HK$53.0 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$71.1 million). The decrease is mainly due to the repayment of
short-term loans and other payables of approximately HK$16.3 million
during the year.

As at 31 December 20283, the working capital (current
assets less current liabilities) and total equity attributable to
owners of the Group were approximately HK$138.5 million
(31 December 2022: approximately HK$133.9 million) and
approximately HK$167.9 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$162.6 million) respectively.

Gearing ratio (calculated based on the interests bearing liabilities,
which excluded lease liabilities, divided by the total equity as at the
respective end of period and multiplied by 100%) as at 31 December
2023 was approximately 1.6% (31 December 2022: 9.2%). Such
decrease was mainly due to the repayment of short-term loans during
the year.

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

The Group’s average receivable turnover days for the Year 2023
increased to approximately 150.9 days as compared to that of
approximately 115.6 days for the Year 2022. This is due to a large
quantity of products were delivered in the last quarter of the Year
2023. No bad debts were recognised during the year and the Group
also do not consider there to be default on any of its trade receivables
balance as at 31 December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION OR DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, nor any material
acquisitions or disposals during the Year 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s banking facilities were secured by corporate guarantees
provided by the Company for unlimited amount and certain leasehold
land and buildings as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
There was no other pledge of assets as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report and in the prospectus of
the Company dated 27 April 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group does
not have other plans for material investments and capital assets as at
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitment in respect of
investment in a subsidiary at the end of the Year 2023 and the Year
2022,
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CURRENCY RISK

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions and assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
As such, the Group currently does not have any foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions and assets
and liabilities as the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant.
However, the Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to
currency movement and take proactive measures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTY

The Group’s business operations are conducted in Hong Kong,
Macau and Mainland China. Accordingly, the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects are affected
significantly by market risks and general economic, political and legal
developments in these jurisdictions.

Furthermore, the projects undertaken by the Group are awarded on
a project-by-project basis through tendering and hence are non-
recurring in nature. There is no assurance that the Group’s customers
will continue to make purchases from the Group and failure to
maintain the success rate for obtaining new projects could materially
affect the Group’s financial performance. Other principal risks include
fluctuations in purchase prices of the Group’s principal raw materials
used in production and disruption to the operations of the Group’s
production facilities, both of which would adversely affect the Group’s
operations and financial performance.

The Group believes that risk management is the responsibility of
everyone within the Group and has implemented a risk management
system to mitigate the risks in daily operations. Risk management
is led by the Directors at the top, who take both macro and micro
economic conditions into account before making business decisions,
and also aims to develop risk awareness and control responsibility as
the Group’s culture and the foundation of the Group’s internal controls
system.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES

Management recognises that employees, customers, suppliers
and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development
of the Group. The Group maintains long-term relationships with
its customers and suppliers, with most of its major customers
and suppliers having established more than 10 years of working
relationship with the Group, and some beyond 15 years. The Group
is generally invited by its customers to submit quotations or tenders
for potential projects. The pricing on projects is determined by
reference to the estimated costs plus a profit margin having taken
into consideration the relationship with or potential prospect of
the customer, project type and size, target completion date and
the Group’s production schedule and availability of resources. The
Group endeavours to maintain its presence and keep abreast of
opportunities in the market by continuous communication and
working with customers and by responding to all tender invitations.
The Group has built up a stable pool of suppliers over its operating
history of over 30 years, which allows the Group to effectively
maintain the quality of raw materials sourced. The Group assigns a
project team to each project to follow the working progress of the
project, ongoing communications with the customers as to their
requests and to ensure that all safety and other applicable regulatory
compliance requirements are met. The Group also maintains a very
stable and experienced management team and an amicable long-
term relationship with its employees. The Group ensures that all
the employees are reasonably remunerated by regular review of
their salary package. The Group’s experienced management team,
coupled with dedicated and skilled employees, are one of its key
drives in delivering high quality and reliable products to customers
in order to attain high customer satisfaction and maintain its fine
reputation in the market.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The operations of the Group are primarily carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China, while its
products are also delivered to Macau. The Group’s establishment and
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in each of the above jurisdictions. During the Year 2023 and up to the
date of this report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, and had complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in the above-mentioned jurisdictions in all material respect.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had 229 full-time employees as at 31 December 2023
(81 December 2022: 238), among which 44 and 185 (31 December
2022: 43 and 195) were stationed in Hong Kong and Mainland China,
respectively. Most of the Group’s employees were factory workers
in Mainland China. The total staff costs (including fees, salaries and
other allowance, and retirement benefit scheme contributions for
both Directors and other staff) for the Year 2023 were approximately
HK$38.4 million (Year 2022: approximately HK$40.6 million). The
Group believes that employees are important assets and their
contribution and support are valued at all times. The remuneration
policy and package of the Group’s employees were periodically
reviewed in order to attract and retain high caliber and competent
staff. Apart from retirement benefit scheme contributions, salaries
increment and discretionary bonuses are also awarded to employees
according to industry benchmark, the assessment of individual
performance as well as with reference to the performance of the
Group. The remuneration policy in place as at 31 December 2023
was in line with the current legislation in the relevant jurisdictions,
market conditions and performance of the staff and the Group. The
Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and employees.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been listed on
the Stock Exchange since 11 May 2018 (the “Listing Date”). Net
proceeds from the Listing were approximately HK$75.0 million (the
“‘Net Proceeds”) (after deducting the underwriting commission
and other listing expenses in connection to the Listing), which was
different from the estimated net proceeds of HK$89.7 million as
disclosed in the Prospectus. The difference of HK$14.7 milion has
been adjusted in the same manner and in the same proportion to
the use of proceeds as shown in the Prospectus. According to the
announcements of the Company on 16th August 2022 and 28th
September 2023 (the “Announcements”), the board resolved to
change the proposed use of the unutilized net proceeds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

An analysis of the amounts utilized up to 31 December 2023 is set HE_ZT_=F+_B=+—HHNEHE<HE

out below: DWW -
Further change
Revised in allocation of
allocation of ~ Net Proceeds as Utilised
Net Proceeds as  disclosed in the Utilised Net Proceeds Unutilized
disclosed inthe  Announcement Net Proceeds duringthe ~ Net Proceeds
Announcement on Revised upto year ended asat
Netproceeds  on 16th August ~ 28th September allocationof 31 December 31 December 31 December
from Listing 2022 2023 Net Proceeds 2022 202 2023
$-§== REE
RZEZZE ARZHNBR EE 52k
NB17REH AETRER ZECCE +IR=t-H RIEIZE
NERREN  FERETE +ZB=1-H tEE  +ZA=1+-H

LHHE  FMGRERE  AEME-S  MGHEIR BHEME  HEBEME  MABEMG

Description it PERE  NEEINE 28 WEEINE FERE HERE HERE
(HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million)

(BE#T) (BE#T) (BE#T) (BEET) (BEET) (BE#T) (BE#T)

() Acquistion of a factory i i EPEMHEA—E
Mainland China iR (HBR)
(‘New Factory’)
- Consideration of the New Factory ~FBEOREREHE
and the reated commission, e 20800
deed tax, stamp duty and TtHREXER
professional fees 374 374 (34.9) 29 - 29 -
- Acquisition of machineries and -BERBRRG
equipment 212 37 = 37 = 37 =
) Acqustonof machineiesand () BEEZREME
equipment for the existing factory (RE2EME) 8
located in Dongguan BRAME
('DG Quanda Factory’) 133 59 - 59 02 45 12
(i) General Working Capital i) —REEE: 31 156 125 2.1 125 111 45
(1) Maintenance and alteration M) FREZEMENEERIE
for the DG Quanda Factory - 124 - 124 - 46 78
() Extend banking faciiies () MARTHE - - 120 120 - - 120
(W Bulk purchase of pre-paid products (i) HEEEHEBEENE
from suppliers ER - - 100 100 - 11 89
Totd st 750 750 - 750 127 279 344
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R

The unutilized Net Proceeds are expected to be utilized in the coming
two financial years.

The Net Proceeds were used and are proposed to be used in
accordance with the intentions previously disclosed by the Company
in the Prospectus and Announcements.

As at 31 December 2023, the unutilized Net Proceeds of
approximately HK$34.4 million were placed with a licensed bank in
Hong Kong.

Save for the aforesaid changes, there is no other change in use of the
Net Proceeds.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no other material events occurring after 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEBREEFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
WAN Man Keung

Mr. Wan Man Keung (“Mr. Wan”), aged 62, is an executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and daily management of the Group’s business
development and operations. Mr. Wan, together with, among others,
Mr. Leung Ka Wai, founded the Group on 25 August 1992. He was
the non-executive Director for the period between 29 June 2017 and
11 January 2018, and was redesignated as an executive Director on
12 January 2018. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
on 29 June 2017 and as a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 23
April 2018. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Group and
the legal representative of two PRC companies, namely Dongguan
Quanda Electrical Equipment Limited (‘DG Quanda”) and Guangzhou
Quanda Electrical Metal Products Limited (‘GZ Quanda”). Mr. Wan
has more than 30 years of experience in the low-voltage electrical
power distribution and control devices industry. Mr. Wan completed
form three education in 1978. He currently holds the certificate
of registration of electrical worker issued by the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department in Hong Kong and is a grade B
electrical worker. He was awarded a craft certificate in electrical fitting
and installations by the Morrison Hill Technical Institute (currently
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education (Morrison
Hill)) in Hong Kong in July 1981. Since February 2020, Mr. Wan has
served as the chairman and, until re-designation, non-executive
director of SEM Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 9929) which is listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. In 26 January 2024, Mr.
Wan was re-designated from non-executive director to an executive
director and was appointed as the chief executive officer of SEM
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 9929). Mr. Wan is a cousin of Mrs. Kan
Wan Wai Yee Mavis.

For Mr. Wan’s interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), please refer to the
section headed “Report of the Directors” in this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhEREERBREEFB

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
LEUNG Ka Wai

Mr. Leung Ka Wai (“Mr. Leung”), aged 55, is an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Group and is responsible
for overseeing the daily management of the Group’s business
development and operations. Mr. Leung is one of the founders of
the Group and was appointed as an executive Director and the
Group's chief executive office on 29 June 2017 and 12 January 2018,
respectively. He is also a director of Ready Electrical Metal Work
Limited (“Ready Electrical Metal”), Ready Enterprise (China) Limited,
Ready Development (China) Limited, DG Quanda, GZ Quanda
and Dongguan Ready Electrical Equipment Limited. Mr. Leung has
over 30 years of experience in the low-voltage electrical power
distribution and control devices industry. Mr. Leung completed form
five education in 1985. He was awarded a basic mechanical craft
certificate and a general course certificate by the Vocational Training
Council in July 1987 and in July 1988, respectively.

For Mr. Leung’s interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO, please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors”
in this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREFS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
KAN Wan Wai Yee Mavis

Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis (“Mrs. Kan”), aged 67, was
appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) on 29 June
2017 and 23 April 2018, respectively, and is responsible for providing
strategic advice to the Group’s internal control and corporate
governance. Mrs. Kan obtained her diploma in management studies
from a program jointly organised by the Hong Kong Management
Association and Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in June 1988. She is currently a
certified public accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a chartered tax adviser of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mrs. Kan started her career with
The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation (currently known
as The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited) from
1977 to 1980. She worked for a firm which is one of the biggest
accountancy practice in Hong Kong from 1980 to 1985. She was
a partner of a local accountancy practice from 1997 and retired
from the partnership in 2010. She founded a tax consultancy firm
and an accountancy practice in 2010 and 2012 respectively. Mrs.
Kan is currently a non-executive director of SEM Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 9929) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mrs. Kan is the cousin of Mr. Wan.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
NG Chi Keung Alex

Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex (“Mr. Ng”), aged 66, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee on 23 April
2018. He is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Ng obtained a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University (Macau)
(currently known as the City University of Macau) in May 1993,
a master degree in building services engineering from the Brunel
University, United Kingdom, through distance learning, in July 1995,
and a bachelor degree of engineering in building services engineering
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2000. He is
currently a member of The Chartered Institution of Building Services
Engineers and a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.
In December 2002, Mr. Ng was also registered as a chartered
engineer by the Engineering Council UK (currently known as the
Engineering Council), in relation to his membership of The Chartered
Institution of Building Services Engineers. Mr. Ng has more than 45
years of experience in the engineering industry. He worked for Yuen
Cheong Engineering Company Limited as a site agent from July
1978 to July 1981, Arthur C. S. Kwok Architects & Associates as a
M&E draftsman from August 1981 to November 1982, Kennedy &
Donkin International as an assistant plumbing & drainage engineer
from October 1982 to November 1984, Hongkong & Whampoa
Dock Company Limited as a senior project co-ordinator from April
1985 to March 1994, Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited as the
chief project manager from April 1994 to March 2015, and Hutchison
Property Group Limited as the chief project manager from April 2015
to December 2016.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

CHENG Sum Hing

Mr. Cheng Sum Hing (‘Mr. Cheng’), aged 67, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee on 23 April 2018. He is responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to the Board, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Cheng obtained a bachelor degree of science in
building economics and measurement from The University of Aston
in Birmingham, United Kingdom, in July 1982, a bachelor degree in
law from the Peking University in July 1998, and a master degree of
science in construction law and dispute resolution from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009. He was admitted
as a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors in November
2003. Mr. Cheng has more than 45 years of experience in the
quantity surveying industry. He worked for Widnell, a chartered
quantity surveyors firm, from April 1993 to June 2005, Hong Kong
Construction (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 190), the issued shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, as an executive director
from August 2005 to June 2007, Construction Industry Training
Authority as a consultant from September 2007 to September 2008,
and H. A. Brechin Co. Limited, a chartered quantity surveyors firm, as
a director from September 2008 to March 2013. When H.A. Brechin
Co. Limited merged with Turner & Townsend plc in March 2013, he
then continued to serve Turner & Townsend Brechin Limited as a
director, and retired on April 2022. Mr. Cheng was a director of the
Hong Kong Green Building Council Limited from January 2012 to
December 2017 and served as a director of BEAM Society Limited
from October 2014 to June 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

NG Ching Ying

Ms. Ng Ching Ying (“Ms. Ng”), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairlady of the Audit
Committee on 23 April 2018. She is responsible for supervising
and providing independent judgment to the Board and the Audit
Committee. Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor degree of business
administration with honours in accounting from the Hong Kong
Baptist University in December 1997. She has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April
2001. Ms. Ng has rich experience in the accounting, auditing and
finance industry. She worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, a certified
public accountant firm, from September 1997 to April 2002 with
her last position as senior accountant, China Healthcare Holdings
Limited (stock code: 673) (currently known as China Health Group
Limited), the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange,
as a financial controller from May 2002 to May 2006, China Travel
International Investment Hong Kong Limited from May 2006 to May
2017, with her last position as assistant general manager of the
finance department, and Shun Tak — China Travel Ship Management
Limited, a company that provides ferry services, from January 2010 to
May 2017 as a deputy financial controller.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
WONG Man Wai Thomas

Mr. Wong Man Wai Thomas (‘Mr. Wong”), aged 56, was appointed
as the general manager of the Company on 1 February 2022. He is
responsible for overseeing the daily operation of and coordination in
the Group’s projects. He has over 24 years of experience in electrical
and mechanical engineering industry. He completed form five
education in June 1984 in Hong Kong. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Wong worked for SEM Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 9929), from April 2008 to
January 2022 as a project manager.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREFS

COMPANY SECRETARY
YIP Chi Fai

Mr. Yip Chi Fai (“Mr. Yip”), aged 43 was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 16 July 2021. Mr. Yip has over 20
years of audit, accounting and company secretarial experience. From
November 2020 to July 2021, he was the company secretary and
authorised representative of a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Yip is a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accounts and he has awarded one-year advanced
certificate in accountancy by Hong Kong Christian Service Kwun Tong
Vocational Training Centre.

RNEME

BEEasE (8%E) 8B N2 —Ft
B+ RNBEZEREATDZATME -FERER
B G RAAMESEAEEB20FKE - B
TECEF+—REE—FLtRA HA—E
R ER EHHNATNATWERIREAR
R-BEERBEBGNIAGEE WEESE
BEEHRFGREREREZIRTOBE —FFH S

SHEEREE-

22 REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERERS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises that transparency and accountability are
important to the Company as a listed company. The Company
is committed in establishing and maintaining good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Directors believe that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential
for effective management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture in return to the benefits of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Board has adopted and complied with all the mandatory
disclosure requirements and the applicable code provisions as set
out in the section headed “Part 2 — Principles of good corporate
governance, code provisions and recommended best practices”
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 (which has been re-numbered as Appendix C1 with
effect from 31 December 2023) to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board
is of the opinion that the Company has complied with all the code
provisions of the CG Code for the Year 2023.

The Board will continue reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements from time to time, and to meet the rising expectation on
the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 (which has been re-numbered as Appendix
C3 with effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the
Company by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, they confirmed that
they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code regarding securities transactions by Directors during the Year
2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERARS

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY
Corporate Culture

The Board and the management of the Group set the tone and shape
the corporate culture, which is underpinned by the core values of
acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels of the Group.
The Board leads the management in defining the purpose, values
and strategic direction of the Group and in fostering a corporate
culture that is building a long-term sustainable business models
where customers, partners, investors, suppliers and employees can
benefit in the shared value of corporate success. The desired culture
is developed and reflected consistently in the Group’s business
operations, workplace policies and practices as well as relationships
with the Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board, together
with the management of the Group, create an organizational culture
of maintaining and developing an effective corporate governance
framework with stringent corporate governance practices and
procedures through workforce engagement, employee retention and
training, robust financial reporting, whistleblowing, data privacy and
anti-corruption policies, and legal and regulatory compliance. Taking
into account the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board
considers that the Group’s culture, purpose, values and strategy are
aligned.

Corporate Strategy

In order to achieve the Group’s principal objective of enhancing long-
term values and interests to the Shareholders and other stakeholders,
the Group focuses on achieving sustainable growth in both financial
and environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) performance. The
Group executes disciplined management of revenue and profitability,
margin and costs, capital and investment return and other financing
activities. The Group executes disciplined management of revenue
and profitability, margin and costs, capital and investment return
and other financing activities. The “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and
the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this annual
report include discussions and analyses of the Group’s performance,
the basis on which the Board directs to generate the Group’s core
values in the longer term and delivers the Group’s corporate culture,
strategy and objectives. The Group is increasingly conscious on ESG
and focusing on supporting the global low-carbon and sustainable
future transition. Further details on the Group’s ESG initiatives
and relationships with its key stakeholders are disclosed in the
“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” of this
annual report.

EEXE R R
EEXIE

EEENAEEEEEREEXEE TERIL
BEGEXL AR0EERREREEEEE
HUGZ GFEBNEEENSNTE -EF
CREEEEREAERNTS - BEBRMRK
HEt MR -BEEXE BRI RMAFEN
EHEACBER AEBMH REE  HERM
EBEHALUREFRENEENEERMTR
m o BN XIEEREBRAEENETEF T
TEBFTBRME R > U B R RBRRMEME
PENFAGPEUERMRMR - -EFTFHL
EEEEE-E BEBTIZ2H - EEKRBENIE
I RENMBRS BR - EHEBANRES
HR URETERNREEGR -TREKER
NIHNEEXE EFERXREEENXE R
5 BERNRBHEE -8

R

UERSRERAMFHERSERBHEENR
mMETEAR AEEEENMBNRE HE
el (MRR g kER) REUBHRIFE
BR - AEEHEXRNBN A BOAE B
AMKERER Uk EMBE TS ETERENE
BoAXRFRIPNETFEREG I MIEEENRK
DT BEEREAEERRENHHNON &5
CEARMETEERRENZOEEMNERE
EENEEXE-RBENERNER -~EEY
RIE-HERELGNERMBAEE® TEIENX
FEARERERMPIFERNRK - SREEER
WIRIE L ERERHEE UREEFTERMNE
WEGRNE-—DFRHNAFHRONIRE L F
RERREITINE -

24 REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERARS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board. Key responsibilities of the Board include the formulation of the
Group’s overall strategies and policies, the setting of performance
targets, the evaluation of business performance and the oversight of
management.

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprised six Directors, including two executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.
The list of all Directors are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wan Man Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ka Wai (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing
Ms. Ng Ching Ying

Biographical details and the relationships among the members of
the Board are disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 16 to 22 of this report.

The Board has a balanced composition of executive and independent
non-executive Directors so that there is a strong independent element
on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.
The Board considers that each of the independent non-executive
Directors brings his own relevant expertise to the Board.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board. The summary of the mechanisms is set out
below:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third of
its members being Independent Non-executive Directors (or
such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules
from time to time), with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. Further,
Independent non-executive Directors will be appointed to Board
committees as required under the Listing Rules and as far as
practicable to ensure independent views are available.

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the nomination
policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to
assess annually the independence of independent non-
executive Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise
independent judgement.

Compensation

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence.

Board Decision Making

Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information from the management on
the matters to be discussed at Board meetings and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense.

A Director (including independent non-executive Directors) who has
a material interest in a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not
vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving
the same.

26

EETw
EEGOR UM LB REEeRSE TR
D BT

(i)

)

(iv)

EX (BEBYIIFATESR) NG

BB
EFERIRREERD=ZLBIIFNT
EERETFRLV=ZDZ—HNERBIIFN
TEE RLTRUFHHEENESAHT
R) MEL-—RBIUFRITEFEFEEE
HEER NEANEFAUBFEEREZEEN
#o RNB TR EHRAZBERFIITIE
NTIEABUFATEEMAEZEEEERE
T IR RIS B ILER

e VA kR
RAZEENRBRZEBIUIFNTES
R g RS E TIRGEER WK ES FTE
BIFRMITEFZEIUM  BRBFERE
{F i J8 32 ) i o

B <=

BUFATEFUEELGTEREBYERE
BEATERNRAEDHMN EREEFHMN
BRHRARRBLZEEZRENBIIE-

ERERR

EX (BREBUIFNTES BENESFT
ERLRFENEEESRE-—TER
RNEREZ AISRKBUEXER  ERM
=R NSRS

W RZHRH

THAEAND ISR EBEREN - XBK
ZHZEFRBERE TG AZRERNE
ENH

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERARS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive Directors as mentioned in item (i) above.

The Company has received confirmation in writing of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and considers
them to be independent of the management and free of any
relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of
power and authority.

The positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were held
by Mr. Wan Man Keung and Mr. Leung Ka Wai, respectively. Their
respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to, and
overseeing the functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Group and Board meetings are planned
and conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for
approving the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into account,
where appropriate, matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. With the support of the Group’s company secretary
and other senior management, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chairman also actively encourages Directors to fully engage in the
Board’s affairs and make contribution to the Board’s functions.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is
in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board. At least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Appointments, Re-Election and Removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a fixed term of three years and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association (the “Articles”).

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment for a
fixed term of three years and are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with articles 108 and 112 of the Articles, all the
Directors retired from office as Directors at the first AGM, and being
eligible, offered themselves for re-election and were re-elected as
Directors. One-third of the Directors shall retire from office and be
subject to re-election by rotation at each AGM thereafter.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Appointments, Re-Election and Removal of Directors
(Continued)

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable, general
meetings of the Company, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board. The Nomination Committee shall also
review and determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out in the nomination policy of the Company.
The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Director at the general meeting of the Company.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors take
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year, with written notice
given to the Directors at least 14 days in advance. For all other
Board meetings, notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance.
The Directors are allowed to include any matter in the agenda that
is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable
the Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the
Board meetings so as to make informed decisions, an agenda and
the accompanying Board papers including supporting analysis and
relevant background information will be sent to all Directors at least
three days before the Board meeting, or such other period as agreed
by the Board. Between scheduled meetings, senior management of
the Group provides the Directors with information on a timely basis
on the activities and development in the businesses of the Group and
when required, additional Board meetings are held.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management (Continueq)

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company as well as the services and advice from the Group’s
company secretary and senior management. The Directors may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their
duties to the Company.

The Directors should disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the
Company.

The Board reserves its decision on all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance practices,
the Board had established three committees namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of these
committees comprises mostly independent non-executive Directors
who have been invited to serve as members. These committees
are governed by the respective terms of reference approved by the
Board. The terms of reference of these committees are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and available to
Shareholders upon request.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of two independent non-executive
Directors and one non-executive Director with Ms. Ng Ching Ying,
an independent non-executive Director, as the chairlady. Other
members are Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis, a non-executive Director,
and Mr. Cheng Sum Hing, an independent non-executive Director.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/
or senior management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance
may be invited to attend meetings. The Audit Committee normally
meets two times a year. The Audit Committee also meets the external
auditors twice without the presence of the executive Directors.
The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things,
reviewing and monitoring the financial and internal control aspects,
risk management system, audit plan and relationship with external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company. The Audit
Committee reviews the truth and fairness of the Group’s interim and
annual financial statements, discusses with the external auditors
the nature and scope of audit before the audit commences as well
as the findings and recommendations raised by the auditors during
and after completion of the audit. The Audit Committee conducts
an assessment, at least annually, of the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal controls and financial controls system, risk management
system, scope of work and appointment of external auditors and
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties. This allows the Board to monitor the Group’s overall
financial position and to protect its assets. The chairlady of the Audit
Committee summarises activities of the Audit Committee, highlights
issues arising therefrom, and provides recommendations for reporting
to the Board after each meeting.

Attendance record of meetings during the Year 2023 is set out on
page 35 of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continueq)

The Audit Committee convened 4 meetings during the Year 2023.
The Audit Committee performed the following work during the Year
2023:

(a) reviewed the Group’s annual audited financial statements for
the Year 2022, and reviewed the unaudited interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2023 including the
accounting principles and accounting standards adopted with
recommendations made to the Board for approval;

(b) reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

(c) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related
matters;

(d) considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

The Company’s annual results for the Year 2023 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee and they are of the opinion that
the preparation of such results complied with applicable accounting
standards and that adequate disclosure has been made.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors with Mr. Cheng Sum Hing,
an independent non-executive Director, as the chairman. Other
members are Mr. Wan Man Keung, an executive Director, and Mr. Ng
Chi Keung Alex, an independent non-executive Director.

The Nomination Committee schedules to hold at least one meeting
a year. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continueq)

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

Attendance record of meeting during the Year 2023 is set out on
page 35 of this report.

The Nomination Committee convened one meeting during the Year
2023. The main works performed by the Nomination Committee
during the Year 2023 included reviewing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, considering the qualifications of
the retiring Directors standing for election at the 2023 AGM, reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and
reviewing the Board diversity policy.

The Nomination Committee considered that an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director
and two independent non-executive Directors with Mr. Ng Chi Keung
Alex, an independent non-executive Director, as the chairman. Other
members are Mr. Wan Man Keung, an executive Director, and Mr.
Cheng Sum Hing, an independent non-executive Director. At the
discretion of the Remuneration Committee, executive Directors and/
or senior management personnel overseeing the Group’s human
resources function may be invited to attend meetings.

EEHZETw
RBEET ®

RAZESGENF  RLEEGEEEFTES
BRI 2 IR - IR EF RIS
FR -NERHBBEBHR - FEER AL
RATERME KSR - IR BT B GRS 5m A 175 E B
BREFEZItZEEER AV ERODESE
BT LR -

RYBREECBENEFSAER RREEEH
EFEFHEZNEERAENRE BEE K
BBUIMKEMPIESEXRBRERESS
Z7tfb (REHE) BB EERF-

TR CHFEERZHBESHRENARENG
35K

REZEBEN_ZE_=FEEH—NEE -EL
ZEER T _FEWNTZEFEIFEER
NBIEENBIME TERNERFZE
TEFRRBFEAT LRENRESEENERE
BAEFERBE REERRESZ T L E
REFTZ TR

RAZEEINEFTESLEENGETS
BRI MUAERs -

HINESE

HFNEEEH - RRITESFRMBBILIFRTT
EREN ZEEIRABUIFPTEZTRSH
S HMERRITESFARBALERBILIF
HITEFEREXLLE -REFHNZESTHER
TEAEEANERBENNTESTR TS
REEASTERBFHFEEZEE SR

Annual Report 2023 — &~ = FF 33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERARS

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continueq)

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy,
structure and remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
the senior management and reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to share schemes under chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates wiill
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration. Remuneration will
be determined by reference to the performance of the individual and
the Company as well as market practice and conditions.

The Remuneration Committee schedules to hold at least one meeting
a year for reviewing the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and determination of the annual remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and the senior management and other
related matters. The human resources department is responsible
for collection and administration of the human resources data
and making recommendations to the Remuneration Committee
for consideration. The Remuneration Committee shall consult
with the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and remuneration packages.

Attendance record of meeting during the Year 2023 is set out on
page 35 of this report.

The Remuneration Committee convened one meeting during the Year
2023. The main works performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the Year 2023 included reviewing the remuneration packages
of the executive Directors, non-executive Director, independent non-
executive Directors and senior management.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of each Director and the 5 highest
paid employees for the Year 2023 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. The remuneration of the senior
management for the Year 2023 is listed below by band:

EFREREEEFM

TR -FEREFURDLREHEEZH
M B DRI NGRS B REMEI1 - ZF
“—HEESREERNFHFMIZRREOWT

Number of Persons

Band of Remuneration (HK$) AR B GBT) AL
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZHITE 1,000,000 AT 1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEEAR

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set out in = BEE IR ESKREBECEEATIA2AEXEFT

the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance with the Model Code and employee written guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals and
requiring active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (continued)

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings and general meetings of the Company held
during the Year 2023 is set out in the table below:

EFERZEGNEHFETE @

REFHRARIN S _=ZFELTZES
EREFELZETTERRRAGHCHIN
T

Attendance/Number of Meetings

ERHUEBER K™

2023 Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination general

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee meeting

—EC=HF

B4 Exg BEREZEE FNEEE RYWZEE RRBEKE

Mr. Wan Man Keung 4/4 - 11 1/1 11
FRBEE

Mr. Leung Ka Wai 4/4 - - - 11
AREE

Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis 4/4 4/4 - - 1/1

BRZRRL

Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex 4/4 - 11 1/1 11
-yt e

Mr. Cheng Sum Hing 4/4 4/4 11 1/1 11
ERE g

Ms. Ng Ching Ying 4/4 4/4 - - 11

REELL

During the Year 2023, one meeting was also held between the
Chairman and the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has a board diversity policy whereby it recognises and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavors
to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue to be
made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of
the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge.
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36 REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERARS

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continueq)

During the Year 2023 and as at the date of this report, the Board
comprises six Directors, two of which are female. The Company
targets to avoid a single gender Board and will timely review the
gender diversity of the Board in accordance with the business
development of the Group. The Company believes the balance
of gender in the Board would bring more inspiration to the Board
and enhance the business development of the Group, thus gender
diversity is the essential factor for the Company to select suitable
candidate as a Director. The following tables further illustrate the
diversity of the Board members as of the date of this report:

EFETIZITIEBER @

A CE T FEMRARSEAP  EETHAE
BFREN ETMEARE - RATRNEBERE
EEME— TEREAERERLEBRFE
SNEETHRZ b - AATEEGE EFTEHME
A FEBAEEGHRELRE TRELAEER
MERRE FILMR L T AATRES S
BEFEANENBEERE - TRE—TEARN KRS
HEESEE2mE 22 TlbiBE

Age Group
FH4A R
40-49 50-59 60-69
Name of Director EEH4 40-495% 50-595% 60-695%
Mr. Wan Man Keung FRBI;E 4
Mr. Leung Ka Wai REREIE v
Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis BRERLZT v
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex RERfLE v
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing ey e v
Ms. Ng Ching Ying RRERT v
Professional Experience
BEIRER
Low-voltage
electrical
power
distribution
and control Quantity
devices Engineering surveying Accounting
industry industry industry and Finance
BERRER
BEHEGIEE
Name of Director EEHA T TITE ITHUSTE gEtkEH
Mr. Wan Man Keung FR@SE v
Mr. Leung Ka Wai AREE v
Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis FFER &+ v
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex LYot v
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing EAREE v
Ms. Ng Ching Ying =BT v
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continueq)

As at the date of this report, approximately 75% of the Company’s
senior workforce (including the Directors and senior management) is
male and approximately 25% is female. Same as the gender diversity
of the Board, the Company targets to avoid a single gender senior
workforce and will timely review the gender diversity of the senior
workforce in accordance with the business development of the
Group.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company’s key plant sites or meetings with senior management of
the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the Year 2023, all the Directors have been provided with
access to e-trainings which covered various topics such as corporate
governance updates and relevant reading materials including legal
and regulatory updates and publications issued by the Stock
Exchange for their reference and studying. Some of the Directors
have also attended additional professional seminars on an individual
basis during the Year 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 89 to 94 of
this report.

Where appropriate, a statement should be made from the Audit
Committee explaining its recommendation regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors and the
reasons why the Board has taken a different view from that of the
Audit Committee.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee has reviewed and ensured the independence
and objectivity of the external auditors, Cheng & Cheng Limited.
Details of the fees paid or payable to Cheng & Cheng Limited for the
Year 2023 are as follows:

EFHRSMBRRNEE
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EFTANEEMEARLEEHHIBERERNE
ATHMER MAFEHABRIHEQFTH
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& o

1% Bk 6 2 B
BREERDBHRERMNERBMHIBBE 5t
MR FAERABNEIERERE BN
T CEEDNREIBBE HHEHHER
ATEANENT

Amount HK$’000

Nature of services IRFE 4B EETET
Audit services EEHARTE 620
620
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 were audited by Cheng &
Cheng Limited, who were appointed as the Company’s auditor on 23
December 2021 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the resignation
of Wellink CPA Limited on 23 December 2021. Save as disclosed
above, there has been no other change of auditor for the preceding
three years.

RISKS MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the responsibility to maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems in order to safeguard the
Group’s assets and investments and the Shareholders’ interest and
conducts a review on an annual basis. The Board acknowledges that
such risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
conducted review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company in aspects of the Group’s
financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management
functions through the effort of the Audit Committee.

The Group currently has no internal audit function and the Board
reviewed that it is more cost effective to engage an external
independent consultant instead of recruiting a team of internal audit
staff to perform such annual review function. During the Year 2023,
LIF Consultants Limited (the “Consultant”) was engaged to review the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.
The Consultant worked closely with the Group to identify risk
components and risk owners in different aspects through interviews
with and workshops provided to the Group’s management. Also,
the Consultant assisted the Group to evaluate the adequacy of the
existing mitigation plans. In addition, an independent review was
conducted by the Consultant under the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisation of the Treadway Commission’s 2013 framework to
identify weaknesses and enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of
the internal control system of the Group. Last but not least, findings
and recommendations resulting from the review were reported to and
discussed with the Audit Committee, and the Consultant concluded
that no significant area of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance control and risk management of the Group
has been identified.
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RISKS MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
and the Board had reached the conclusion that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems were in place and effective.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental,
social and governance strategy and reporting. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) risk management and internal control systems to ensure
that the ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met.
Detailed information on the environmental, social and governance
practices adopted by the Group is set out in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (“ESG Report”) of
this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of
confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information
to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to a
material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material
fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced way,
which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Yip Chi Fai (“Mr. Yip”), who is
an employee of the Group as its company secretary. Mr. Yip has
confirmed that for the Year 2023, he has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training. The biography of Mr. Yip is set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, on a one unit per share basis, in
the paid share capital of the Company. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the company secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition and
the foregoing Shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the
meeting agenda. Such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convenue a physical meeting at only one
location which will be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Cayman Islands
Company Law for Shareholders to move new resolution at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedure for
Nomination of Directors by Shareholders” of the Company which is
posted on the Company’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board
through the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 5, 4th Floor, Chai Wan Industrial City Phase Il, No. 70 Wing
Tai Road, Hong Kong or via email at enquiry@rem-group.com.hk.
Enquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner
and allow them to engage actively with the Company. Information
will be communicated to the Shareholders through the Company’s
website, corporate email, financial reports, AGMs and other
extraordinary general meetings that may be convened as well as all
the published disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholder communication policy during the year and
conclude that it is effective because some minority shareholders have
personally approached the company and ask for relevant news.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 1 January 2022, the Listing Rules were amended by, among
others, adopting a uniform set of 14 core standards for shareholder
protections for issuers regardless of their place of incorporation set
out in Appendix 3 (which has been renumbered as Appendix A1 with
effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules. Before the AGM
on 20 June 2023, the Board proposed to make certain amendments
to the then memorandum and articles of association for the purpose
of, among others, () conforming to the said core standards for
shareholder protections; (i) setting out explicitly the flexibility of the
Company to convene electronic and hybrid general meetings; and
(i) incorporating certain other housekeeping changes. Accordingly,
the Board proposes to adopt the second amended and restated
memorandum of association and articles of association of the
Company (the “New Memorandum and Articles”) in substitution for,
and to the exclusion of, the then memorandum articles of association.

On 20 June 2023, a special resolution was passed at the AGM to
approve the proposed amendments and the adoption of the New
Memorandum and Articles. The New Memorandum and Articles is
available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to present to the Shareholders this report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year 20283.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group are sales and manufacturing of low-voltage
electrical power distribution and control devices in Hong Kong,
Macau and Mainland China. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review of the business of the Group, including
the future prospect of the Group, principal risks and uncertainties,
relationship with customers, suppliers and employees are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year 2023 are set forth in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 95 of this report. The Board does not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the Year 2023 (Year 2022: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five years is set out on
page 172 of this report. Such summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements for the Year 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year 2023 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year 2023.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$116.9
million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$120.0 million).

Movements of the reserves of the Company and of the Group during
the Year 2023 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 98, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year 2023, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 54.0% of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer accounted for approximately 16.3% of the
total revenue of the Group.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 57.6% and
18.8% of the Group’s total purchases for the Year 2023, respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year 2023 and up to the date
of this report are as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wan Man Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ka Wai (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing
Ms. Ng Ching Ying

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the general
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.

Accordingly, Mr. Leung Ka Wai and Ms. Ng Ching Ying shall retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
information, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him/her had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Year 2023 or at any time during the Year 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a fixed term of three years and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment for a
fixed term of three years and are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors being proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any member of the Group, which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statement.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and other officers shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duties or supposed duties in their respective offices, except such
(if any) as shall be incurred or sustained through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
the Directors and officers of the Group, thereby sustained or incurred,
arising from or incidental to execution of duties of his/her offices.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year 2023 and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had any interest in any business which were in competition or
were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly with the Group’s
business which needs to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year 2023 was the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations, within the meaning of the SFO, which had to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules, once the
Shares are listed, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary Shares

EFRTBITHASRKRG - HRERK
MREEEPFZETRRXE

RIE_=F+_BA=+—H EFKELATE
ZITBRAERARBREAE ZE (EXxRES
KEAE RGN MK~ BERONEEERERIR
BEERIASIEMNEXVE ST RESD I BN S
KN RBMTFINEZRAE (BERSERES
RIS EFRRERENRARAE) XA
RIBEBH RS 6 5535218 58 A ZIEFr it & 50
MR kA WiRIE LR AT SR &£ <F
B M — R EMEANG RN R FTRRE
mERBUWT

REBRZETE

Total number

of Shares and  Approximate

underlying percentage of
Shares held issued share
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interests (Note 1) capital
FR¥sRg (7 B
MHEARNEE BERITREHN
EENa B HEEHE W51) BAE 2L
Mr. Leung Ka Wai (“Mr. KW Leung”)  Interest held jointly with others; interest 540,000,000 (L) 30%
in a controlled corporation (Note 2)
AREGE (RRESED) HEMARBERFEN#ER ; RREREEN
e (fF5E2)
Mr. Wan Man Keung (“Mr. MK Wan”)  Beneficiary and settlor of the WAN Union Trust; 540,000,000 (L) 30%

interest held jointly with others; interest
in a controlled corporation (Note 2)

FEREmLE (FERIE)) WAN Union Trust = m AR ER T A ;
BMALRFENERD ; RREFEEN
@ ((EE2)

Notes: 5T

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continueq)

Long positions in the ordinary Shares (Continued)

2. Unique Best Limited (“Unique Best”) is owned by WANs Limited, REM
Enterprises Limited (‘REM Enterprises”) and REM Limited as to 85.14%,
13.33% and 1.53%, respectively. WANs Limited is wholly owned by
WAN Union Limited (“WAN Union”) (as trustee of the WAN Union Trust),
while REM Enterprises is wholly owned by Mr. KW Leung and REM
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Yu Chi Kwan (‘Mr. CK Yu”). The WAN
Union Trust is a discretionary family trust established by Mr. MK Wan, Mr.
Wun Chi Wai (“Mr. CW Wun”) and Mr. Wun Chi Keung (“Mr. CK Wun”)
as settlors and WAN Union as trustee which holds the entire interest
in WANs Limited on trust for the benefits of Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun
and Mr. CK Wun, and their immediate family members. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. MK Wan and Mr. CW Wun, being the settlors and beneficiaries,
and WAN Union, being the trustee, are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which WANs Limited is interested. The board of directors
of WAN Union comprises solely Mr. MK Wan, Ms. Wun Tsz Ying (the
daughter of Mr. CK Wun) and Mr. Wan Chak Ming (the son of Mr. MK
Wan who was appointed as a director on 6 August 2020), Ms. Wan Po
Kwan (the daughter of Mr. MK Wan, who was appointed as a director on
30 November 2022) and a third party who was appointed as a director
on 30 November 2022). Mr. CW Wun resigned as a director of WAN
Union on 23 February 2022. Further, Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun and Mr.
KW Leung have confirmed that they are parties acting in concert and
are therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by the others.
Hence, Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun, Mr. KW Leung, WAN Union, WANs
Limited and REM Enterprises are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Unique Best.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S BEERFETHRASR KK - EER
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN PREEZEPZEZRRE @

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continueq)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of associated REATEBEENEBRZIFR
corporations of the Company

Approximate

Name of Total number percentage of
associated of shares held issued share
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interests corporations (Note 1) capital
FRiFRRDEEH BEBITRAHN
554 517 #EE MHEEE TS bty =Rl n
Mr. KW Leung Interest held jointly with others; interest Unique Best 20,000 (L) 100%
in a controlled corporation Mot 2
ZRE L Bt A REFRA R ; RREREE/
Rk 2)
Interest held jointly with others Mete2 WANS Limited 10,000 (L) 100%
B A HERF A Rt s H2)
Beneficial owner Mot 2 REM Enterprises 1L 100%
T A\ Wiz
Mr. MK Wan Beneficiary and settlor of the WAN Union Unique Best 20,000 (L) 100%

Trust; interest held jointly with others;

interest in a controlled corporation Mt 2
FRALE WAN Union Trustf = @ A K ERF A ;

BMARBEFENES ;

T2 PEHIE B B #E 1 002

Beneficiary and settlor of the WAN Union

Trust; interest held jointly with others

en) WANSs Limited 10,000 (L) 100%
WAN Union TrustVZ2 @ AR ERT A ;

BR1th A S 75 MO )

Interest held jointly with others Mee2 REM Enterprises 1 (L) 100%
Bafth A SEEFA RO )

Notes: F5E

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. TLIIEZALTNZEZERMNNFE) (EXERBHFK
XV of the SFO) in such shares. A& &) SEXVER) ©
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continueq)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of associated
corporations of the Company (Continuead)

2. Unique Best is owned by WANs Limited, REM Enterprises and REM
Limited as to 85.14%, 13.33% and 1.53%, respectively. WANs Limited is
wholly owned by WAN Union (as trustee of the WAN Union Trust), while
REM Enterprises is wholly owned by Mr. KW Leung and REM Limited
is wholly owned by Mr. CK Yu. The WAN Union Trust is a discretionary
family trust established by Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun and Mr. CK Wun
as settlors and WAN Union as trustee which holds the entire interest
in WANs Limited on trust for the benefits of Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun
and Mr. CK Wun, and their immediate family members. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. MK Wan and Mr. CW Wun, being the settlors and beneficiaries,
and WAN Union, being the trustee, are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which WANs Limited is interested. The board of directors
of WAN Union comprises solely Mr. MK Wan, Ms. Wun Tsz Ying (the
daughter of Mr. CK Wun) and Mr. Wan Chak Ming (the son of Mr. MK
Wan who was appointed as a director on 6 August 2020), Ms. Wan Po
Kwan (the daughter of Mr. MK Wan, who was appointed as a director on
30 November 2022) and a third party who was appointed as a director
on 30 November 2022). Mr. CW Wun resigned as a director of WAN
Union on 23 February 2022. Further, Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun and Mr.
KW Leung have confirmed that they are parties acting in concert and
are therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by the others.
Hence, Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun, Mr. KW Leung, WAN Union, WANs
Limited and REM Enterprises are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Unique Best.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
interests or short positions of the persons, other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Enterprises &xREM Limited#585.14% ~ 13.33%
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EnterprisesBIHA R R LELEHS » RREM
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares

RRBZEE

Total number
of Shares and

Igﬂxiﬁ"ﬂzﬁ}&ﬁ RARR IR 2 i
BRE @

Approximate

underlying percentage of
Shares held issued share
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interests (=S capital
FRFRR 1D B
HERRMRAAE BRITREHN
R TE 817 #ENE L3y o E =Rl
Unique Best Beneficial owner Mee2 540,000,000 (L) 30%
BEER A (Wi2)
WANSs Limited Interest held jointly with others; interest 540,000,000 (L) 30%
in a controlled corporation ™ee2
=k \ W)
REM Enterprises Interest held jointly with others; interest 540,000,000 (L) 30%
in a controlled corporation "ot 2
BEMAHXRFANER ; RREGEENNER
fz2)
WAN Union Interest held jointly with others; interest 540,000,000 (L) 30%
in a controlled corporation "t 2
BEMAHXRAFANER ; RREGEENNER
(fz2)
Mr. CW Wun Beneficiary and settlor of the WAN Union Trust; 540,000,000 (L) 30%
interest held jointly with others; interest in a
controlled corporation Mete 2
FERKLE WAN Union TrusttI =z AR ERF A 5 BMA
HEFBNER ; RRESEENR RS @2
Ms. Lam Yin Interest of spouse M 540,000,000 (L) 30%
Mz BC Bt W)
Ms. Emi Que Interest of spouse e 540,000,000 (L) 30%
FRYEL BB iz W)
Ms. Huang Xiao Ying Interest of spouse Mt 540,000,000 (L) 30%
HERLZ T Ao B (was)
Mr. Wan Chak Ming Beneficial owner 522,000,000 (L) 29%
FEE LS Bm#EBA A
Ms. Wan Po Kwan Beneficial owner 126,000,000 (L) 7%
Eifckequn Bm#EB A
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1.

The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

Unique Best is owned by WANs Limited, REM Enterprises and REM
Limited as to 85.14%, 13.33% and 1.53%, respectively. WANs Limited is
wholly owned by WAN Union (as trustee of the WAN Union Trust), while
REM Enterprises is wholly owned by Mr. KW Leung and REM Limited
is wholly owned by Mr. CK Yu. The WAN Union Trust is a discretionary
family trust established by Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun and Mr. CK Wun
as settlors and WAN Union as trustee which holds the entire interest
in WANs Limited on trust for the benefits of Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun
and Mr. CK Wun, and their immediate family members. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. MK Wan and Mr. CW Wun, being the settlors and beneficiaries,
and WAN Union, being the trustee, are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which WANs Limited is interested. The board of directors
of WAN Union comprises solely Mr. MK Wan, Ms. Wun Tsz Ying (the
daughter of Mr. CK Wun) and Mr. Wan Chak Ming (the son of Mr. MK
Wan who was appointed as a director on 6 August 2020), Ms. Wan Po
Kwan (the daughter of Mr. MK Wan, who was appointed as a director on
30 November 2022) and a third party who was appointed as a director
on 30 November 2022). Mr. CW Wun resigned as a director of WAN
Union on 23 February 2022. Further, Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun and Mr.
KW Leung have confirmed that they are parties acting in concert and
are therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by the others.
Hence, Mr. MK Wan, Mr. CW Wun, Mr. KW Leung, WAN Union, WANs
Limited and REM Enterprises are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Unique Best.

Ms. Lam Yin is the wife of Mr. MK Wan and is deemed to be interested in
the Shares which are interested by Mr. MK Wan under the SFO.

Ms. Emi Que is the wife of Mr. CW Wun and is deemed to be interested
in the Shares which are interested by Mr. CW Wun under the SFO.

Ms. Huang Xiao Ying is the wife of Mr. KW Leung and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. KW Leung under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest and short position in
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRS

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Company had no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which requires compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year
2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Directors confirm that the related party transactions of the Group
during the Year 2023 as set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions, which are required to comply with
any of the disclosure requirements, annual review and independent
Shareholder’s approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE DEED OF NON-
COMPETITION

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual declaration
to the Company that during the Year 2023, he/she/it and his/her/
its associates have complied with the terms of non-competition
undertakings (“Non-Competition Undertakings”) given in favour of
the Company which are contained in the Deed of Non-Competition
Undertaking. Details of the Non-Competition Undertakings are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders”
of the Prospectus. The independent non-executive Directors have
also reviewed the status of compliance by each of the controlling
Shareholders with the undertakings in the Non-Competition
Undertakings and as far as the independent non-executive Directors
can ascertain, there is no breach of any of the undertakings in the
Non-Competition Undertakings.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares or (i) require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Company during the Year 2023 or subsisted
at the end of the Year 2023.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 23 April 2018, the Company adopted the share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) as incentive or reward for contributions
that the eligible participants have made or may make to the Group.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to any employee, advisor, consultant, service provider,
agent, client, partner or joint venture partner of the Company or its
subsidiaries (including any Director or any director of the Group’s
subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time employment with or
otherwise engaged by the Company or any subsidiary at the time
when an option is granted to such person under the Share Option
Scheme or any person who, in the absolute discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group (the “Eligible
Participants”) to subscribe for the Shares thereby linking their interest
with that of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board may, in
their absolute discretion make offer to the Eligible Participants. The
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
from the date of adoption, after which period no further options will
be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted or exercised prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme (together
with options which may be granted under any other share option
schemes) shall not exceed such number of Shares as equal to 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the Listing.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each grantee (including both exercised or
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board, but in any event will not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the offer date of the particular option, which must be a
business day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as
shown in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date of the particular
option; and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the offer date of the
particular option.

There were no share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme nor were any share options granted, agreed to be granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption date and up to the date of this report. The total number
of Shares available for grant under the scheme was 180,000,000
Shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders to allow Shareholders to share the Company’s
profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The operations of the Group are primarily carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the Mainland China, while
its products are also delivered to Macau. The Group’s establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in each of the above jurisdictions. During the Year 2023
and up to the date of this report, the Group had obtained all the
registrations and certifications required for its business and operations
in Hong Kong and Mainland China, and had complied with all
applicable laws and regulations in the above-mentioned jurisdictions
in all material respect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to ensure the long-term sustainability of
the environment and persistently strives to operate its business
in an economic, social and environmentally sustainable manner.
Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies, relationships
with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are
contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 60 to 88 of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 23 to 43 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the minimum public float required under the Listing Rules during the
Year 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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DONATION

During the Year 2023, the Group did not make charitable and other
donations. (2022: nil).

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and has
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters,
which include the review of the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Cheng & Cheng Limited who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be proposed to the
Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Cheng & Cheng
Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wan Man Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 March 2024
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is a renowned manufacturer and supplier of low-voltage
electrical power distribution and control devices in Hong Kong, Macau
and Mainland China. The Group persistently strives to operate its
business in an economic, social and environmentally sustainable
manner. The Group is committed to make continuous improvements
in corporate social responsibility to better meet the changing needs of
an advancing society.

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) for the Year 2023, which
aims to demonstrate its efforts on sustainability developments
to both internal and external stakeholders. The ESG Report has
been prepared in compliance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The ESG
Report primarily highlights the Group’s major initiatives and activities
implemented from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023.

Reporting boundary

The reporting scope covers the whole business operation of the
Group of manufacturing and sales of low-voltage electrical power
distribution and control devices in the Mainland China and Hong
Kong, and the activities of the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong.

ESG governance structure

The Board holds the overall responsibility on the ESG issues and
implementation on the ESG strategies, direction and policies.
The Board discusses and reviews the risks and opportunities,
performance, progress, goals and targets regularly to monitor the
ESG performance, related issues and potential risks. The Board
institutionalise the overall ESG issues into smaller issues and meetings
are arranged regularly to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies
and procedures and formulate appropriate solutions to improve the
overall performance of ESG policies. Existing and upcoming plans
will be discussed during the meetings to monitor and manage the
Group’s strategic goals in terms of sustainable development, mitigate
potential risks, and minimise their negative impacts on our business
operations.
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Reporting principles

During the preparation for this ESG Report, the Group has applied the
reporting principles in Appendix C2 as follows:

Reporting principles
HREFEA

HREEREA
RBEARE - HEREARER  AEEAER
LU M ExC2RV R &5 R A

Application
FEFs

Materiality During the reporting period, materiality assessment was conducted to identify key aspects of

BEEH% the Group’s long-term sustainability. Please refer to “materiality assessment” for more details.
REBRSHEAETEE TG MEEAER R EEENEES B EZSHEHF2H
FEZ MV E) o

Quantitative This ESG report has disclosed the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or

21t calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/
energy consumption (where applicable).
RRB - HEREAREWE T REHNFEREFE QBR) PREANRE 55 BR
M/ HHAETE URFERANERAREIRR

Balance The ESG report provide an unbiased picture of the Group’s performance.

T KRB -HEAEARGIERHHEAERRTNAERR -

Consistency The key performance indicators (‘KPIs”) used, methods and other relevant factors are

—E % substantially unchanged, comparing to the previous year. For changes in scope of disclosure

and calculation methodologies, proper disclosures and explanations are provided.

B AR FREARIRRENIE R ((RREMIER)) ~ HEREMBMERELRR
B ENRBLEE NGB EZNEC REHBEEMRENERE-

Stakeholder Engagement

Policies has been set up on stakeholder engagement by the Group
to understand the needs of stakeholders and to ensure its activities
that can take into consideration of the stakeholders’ interests. Striving
for continuous improvement, the Group does not only listen to
stakeholder’s opinions but also having them assisted in improving the
Group’s business practices and maintaining their relationships with
the Group by addressing their concerns.

Continuous communication with stakeholders allows the Group
to identify matters in relation to the environmental, social and
governance issues, and it serves as a method to understand
stakeholders’ expectation and assess the materiality on various
aspects as set out in the Guide that are relevant to the Group. Below
sets forth the channels used for communication with respective
stakeholder group.
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Stakeholder group Engagement activities
FipEERE BHED
Customers e  Corporate website
®R o AEIMELL
e  Customer assessment
e  ERIL
*  Project meetings
e IEEHEE
Employees e  Performance appraisals
= e  BEWIE

° Internal emails and publications
e RNEEBI LTI

e Trainings

o IEE

o Meetings

. wiH
Suppliers/Sub-contractors e Project meetings
HERDEE e IEH®E

e Supplier assessment
o HERG

e  Site visiting

o BHMEXR

Investors/Shareholders e Annual general meeting
REE /KR e REEFXE
e Annual and interim reports
e FEKPHRSE
e Announcement and other disclosure
documents
e PNERHMEEXH
e  Corporate website
e NEMLGL

Community ° Industrial events
Ean ) o  ITEEEF

e Corporate social responsibility activities
o (EMHEHRMEEE
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has maintained close communication with its stakeholders
to identify and understand its stakeholders’ main concerns and
material interests for the ESG Report. Stakeholders with high level
of influence and dependence on the Group were selected and
invited to express their views and concerns on a list of sustainability
issues. Through multiple discussions and direct communications,
the Group understands the core issues that matter most to its
stakeholders. By understanding the critical issues from both internal
and external perspectives through stakeholders, the Group developed
its corporate strategy, goals, targets and programs to advance
business sustainability. The assessment started from identifying
corporate social responsibility issues from four different aspects,
including environmental protection, employment and labour practices,
operation practices and community investment. Based on the 24
issues identified, interviews and questionnaires were conducted to
collect opinions from internal and external stakeholders.

A materiality matrix was developed based on the replies from
stakeholders, which 18 critical issues were identified. Among the
critical issues, approximately 44% are related to environmental
protection, followed by employment and labour practices at
approximately 33%, and operational practices at approximately 23%.
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Feedback

To enhance the Group’s future business and sustainable
development, you are welcome to provide your valuable comments to
enquiry@rem-group.com.hk.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group takes environmental protection as one of its fundamental
values. The Group is dedicated to ensure the long-term sustainability
of the environment and communities. Thus, the Group has proactively
looked for and implemented new measures at various stages of
production to minimise its impact to the environment.

The Group has complied with the relevant local environmental laws,
including but not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China (FA#E A R HFBEIRIEREL), the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment
of Water Pollution (FFEE AR EMBIKSEREEAEZE), the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment of
Atmospheric Pollution (FZE AR EME ARG HEMAZE), the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment of
Environment Pollution of Solid Waste (2 A R HEFE[E 2 EEY S
RIRIEPHIAE) and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Preventlon and Treatment of Pollution from Environment Noise (FRZE
AE#&*H&%iﬂD#E/E—ﬂ:Bﬁ/D/f)

During the reporting year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact to the environment.

Air emissions and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions

The Group focuses on manufacturing of low-voltage electrical
power distribution and control devices, which comprises copper
bar installations, steel case production and electrical parts and
equipment assembly and installation process. These manufacturing
processes involved the employment of various machines, including
punching machines, bending machines, shearing machines, rubber
coating machines, generators, dusting machines and other automatic
machines for production. These machines are mainly electricity
driven, and thus contributed heavily to energy indirect emissions.
With this regard, the Group has regularly conduct performance
and condition test to ensure machine are operating in a good
condition without excessive emissions. Also, operation manual and
trainings are provided to workers to enhance the effectiveness and
efficiency of using equipment, which help to reduce unnecessary
emissions. Beyond manufacturing processes, the Group’s general
business activities will also generate emissions. These include fuels
consumption from motor vehicle for travel and paper usage for
general documentation.
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Below sets out the Group’s air emissions data and GHG emission
data for the Year 2023 and the Year 2022.

TERET

T CCFERIZI_FELEER

BYBE REFMBUR OB E R BE FEIR R o

Note Unit 2023 2022
i B —EZ= BICF
Vehicles emissions HHR
NOx Emissions EE=R{vk/E 3 kg T3 32.70 28.32
SOx Emissions mECYHEm kg T7 0.12 0.11
PM Emissions PMEETR kg F7 3.04 2.62
GHG emissions in COze ZaERAEERBHR
Scope 1 - Direct emissions HBE-EEBHEN
Combustion 1tz tonnes M 20.62 19.43
Scope 2 - “Energy indirect” emissions #E— BRI
Electricity purchased BENET Note 1 fif5£1  tonnes M 471.45 676.64
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions #HE— HMERHR
Paper waste disposed at landfils HERSRERER tonnes M 11.98 17.35
Electricity used for processing fresh BRSARER KRS K ER
water and sewage by government MEN
department Note 2 f1z22  tonnes Wi 12.49 20.11
Business air travel by employees BEMEEIR tonnes A 1.65 1.01

Notes:

1.

The emission factors used to calculate the GHG emissions in COze for
electricity purchased under scope 2 are as follows:

o 0.390 kg/kWh for electricity purchased from HK Electric (Source:
HK Electric — Sustainability Report 2022)

o 0.6101 kg/kWh for electricity purchased from Mainland China
(Source: Ministry of Ecology and Environment Electricity Emission
Factor Report 2019)

The emission factors used to calculate the GHG emissions in COze for
electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage by government
department under scope 3 are as follows:

° 0.435 m%kWh for processing fresh water (Source: Water Supplies
Department — Annual Report 2021/22)

° 0.210 m®/kWh for processing sewage (Source: Drainage Services
Department — Sustainability Report 2021/22)

As there are no emission factors available in Mainland China, the same
emission factors above were used to calculate the GHG emissions in
Mainland China.

Mk -

1. ARG ERETIINEEIN _SLREERER
EIIRO ARSI ¢
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The increase in vehicle emissions and direct emission of GHG were
mainly due to higher usage of passenger cars. While the overall
decrease in indirect emissions of GHG were mainly due to decrease
in usage of resources for our manufacturing activities, which are in line
with the declined business in the Year 2023.

Waste

The Group has established various procedures to deal with different
kinds of wasted materials. Wasted powder, wasted material and
sewage are the three major sources of waste produced from the
manufacturing process. Waste collector and sewage container are
employed to collect wastages in production to avoid waste dispose
and sewage leak. Once wastages are collected, they are stored
separately and sent to qualified organizations for recycle or disposal.
To comply with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Treatment of Water Pollution and Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment of Environment
Pollution of Solid Waste, the Group has signed wasted water transfer
agreement and wasted material recycle agreement with authorised
professionals to handle the wastage. To the best of the Group’s
knowledge, no material hazardous wastes was generated.

The table below shows the quantity of waste produced from the
Group’s operation.

AR A EREE RSB MERTHA
AR ERERERI R E R ZBINE
RO EEANRREEHNEREHRELD A
TECZENEHTIBE R
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BERYVRE sEBELEETERBERYVE
BRISKEHBUWERRY R RERYEIE
RiSKARE -BEY—MKRE REORRET
WAFEESBERIBPIUREIRHEE - BETH
EARAEMBEKSRITGERTEARLNE
ElfeBE ) s RIRIB A A AR EE R EREN
HERBRBISKEBHEREREM RS
FOURERBRREY BAEEMMAN SIEELE
REFEEEY-

TRIITAEEEETREENEREYHE -

Unit 2023 2022
==K} == B CHF
Non-hazardous waste mEEEY
Wasted powder BEFR tonnes Mg 0.70 1.14
Wasted material BEZEM KL tonnes M& 109.71 203.83
Sewage 75K tonnes Mg 12.00 24.00
Non-hazardous waste per million EEETWARE tonnes/million 0.73 1.04
dollars of revenue BEEYELES dollars
MEEETT
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The Group is committed to reduce wastes where possible throughout
the operation in offices, workshops and factories. The Group’s main
objective to reduce wastes is to optimise usage of resources. Efforts
are made in designing the production process which will be discussed
in detail in the “Use of Resources” section below. The Group targets
to continuously maintain the intensity of waste at approximately 1
tonne per million dollars of revenue.

Use of Resources

As a manufacturer, majority of the Group’s resources consumption
comes from factories. To minimise wastage and maximise the
utilisation rate of different resources, the Group implemented
several resources saving initiatives. To reduce unnecessary energy
consumption, the Group actively inspects machines and replace
aged components to ensure that they are operated in energy-efficient
conditions. Water used in the cleaning process are recycled and will
be replaced every three months, which will be gathered and sent to
authorised wasted water treatment plant for disposal.

During the Year 2023, there is no issue in sourcing water encountered
by the Group. The Group believes that the initial stage of a production
cycle is the most critical phase as products’ specification and
components of raw material can be hardly changed in the later stage.
Therefore, the Group carefully designs the production and packaging
procedures at planning stage with the aim to optimise the usage
of raw materials and packaging materials in achieving effective and
efficient resources management.

As for offices’ operation, the Group encourages staff to use resource
in an efficient manner. Double-sided copying, paper recycling
and replacing hardcopy documentation with electronic copies on
server are embraced to minimise usage of papers. Also, staff are
recommended to switch off office’s lights and computers during lunch
time. Air-conditioning is suggested to be maintained at an average
temperature of 25 degrees Celsius to save electricity.
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FEESERHEBERINT -

The respective resources consumption data of the Group are set out

below:
Unit 2023 2022
B —EZ= B HF
Energy consumption AETRIHFE
Factories TR kWh F KB 727,388.68 1,053,545.77
Offices and workshops MAERTH kWh F BB 40,698.00 47,710.00
Energy consumption per REERMAFEE  kWh/unit 192,021.67 275,313.94
operating facility TR BAL
Energy consumption in factories per S H &t A TKFETR  kWh/million 4,361.26 4,804.28
million dollars of revenue JHFE dollars
FEE/ B8
Water consumption IKGEFE
Factories TR mé 32 75K 19,178.20 23,400.20
Offices and workshops MANERTH m?3 37 75 K 181.00 88.00
Water consumption per FEE R ACHFE ma3/unit 3,871.84 4,697.64
operating facility ILHAKEAL
Water consumption in factories per SEETWALRAK  m¥milion dollars 114.99 106.71
million dollars of revenue JHFE YHEKBETT
Packaging materials ‘M
Carton board ] pieces & 20,200.00 44,950.00
Packaging foam FaEs pieces & 3,200.00 4,800.00
Wooden pallet Atz pieces & 985.00 985.00

The overall decrease of resources consumption were mainly due to
the declined business in Year 2023. As a result, the usage of energy,
water and packaging materials had been decreased by approximately
30%, 18% and 52% respectively. The increase of the intensity of
water consumption per million dollars of revenue was mainly affected
by the water consumed for the renovation works and cleaning of solar
panels in one the Group’s factory.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group aims to create a corporate culture of saving resources
and environmentally friendly by diminishing the adverse impact from
business activities to the environment. The Group concentrates in
enhancing its manufacturing process to decrease the creation of
unnecessary resources wastage and selects environmentally friendly
materials, equipment and machineries to reduce unfavourable
effect towards the environment. In addition, the Group has entered
agreements with qualified organizations to collect or recycle wastages
produced. To reduce waste of resources, the Group has advocated
the 3R policy which encourages the employees to “Reuse”,
“Reduce”, and “Recycle” to minimise wastage in everyday operations.

Climate Change

The Group is committed to improve the transparency of climate-
related disclosures by incorporating governance procedures with
reference to the recommended disclosures issued by Taskforce on
Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”). Our management will
meet regularly to (i) review the latest government policies, laws and
regulations; (i) discuss business strategies; (i) evaluate risk and
opportunities; (iv) develop action steps and (v) set merits and targets
in relation to material ESG and climate-related issues. The Board will
collaborate closely to identify future risks and opportunities and take
appropriate measures to cope with emerging environmental issues.
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T AEFRBTIRE L EREBNRIEERA
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SRBREESABERBRNEERRE-

The following summaries the risks and the corresponding response
strategies that may expose by the Group in relation to ESG and
climate-related issues. The risks are mainly categorised into physical
risk and transitional risk.

Risks Response strategies
0 R FE R B
Physical risk
BREMR

70

Damage of machineries

Vst

Increased severity of extreme weather events such
as flooding may cause rusting to our machineries
which pose additional maintenance cost and/or
replacement cost.

HKEBIHG KA EHENREEEGNAIETER
BRSBTS KMEEBIMNIEER LR K
BEEMA

Delay in project completion

I8 HULEET

Typhoons and floodings may disrupt our production
schedules and the transportation of raw materials
and products. The Group may, therefore, liable to
liquidated damages under contracts due to delay in
project completion.

Be R A HKPIAE @B AL MM E Est 8 U KRR
e E n AV E 8 o (I UE - AN EE B PJ SERI IR B iE IR i
IMEAESHENNENEES.

Threaten the health condition of our employees

& B TR RER

Rising mean temperature may render our employees
suffer from heat strokes.

THRA EATEEERRMNEEEEFZ-

Procure insurance to protect our machineries.
KRR LURE IR0 2

Increase the frequency of inspection checks.
BN E SRR o

Establish disasters emergency plan.

BIE K EE=ETE

Inspect water and drainage system regularly.
EREEHIKR R

Implement precautionary measures prior to extreme
weather events.

PRI R R S 3 4 R B T TR A T

Employ heat-relieving measures, such as ventilation
system.

RABRRIE WBR AR

Re-arrange work schedule to avoid working in hot
weather.

EMZHIFERBER UBREXRNRIRTI
=
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Risks Response strategies
R % R FESRB&
Transitional risk
R E S
Policy and legal risks —  Keep abreast of the updates regarding relevant
BRI reporting obligation, policies, and regulations

In the event of changes in environmental laws and
regulations, this may pose additional cost to comply
with such requirements. In additions, penalties may
be imposed if the Group fail to comply.

WIRGERROAR B LS F) > pIE G ELRRIMNRA
PUBTERARE - IS MAEEREBTRE

FIREE S EIREE]

Technology risk

M

Development and use of emerging technologies
may increase the operational costs, and reduce the
Group’s competitiveness

B35 R B AT B AT AT AE S B INEE R A > WU R 1R
REENFRFE

Market risk

55 E

Customers’ preference in relation to climate-related
risks may affect demand and supply of our goods
and services
ERHREEMRRNREIEEZERME R R
ARFERIHTE

Reputation risk

BERE

Increased stakeholder concern may lead to reduction

in capital availability.
FhEBmE T o e S E AR L o

ERFFAREEME  BERRERNVRFTER

Keep abreast of the latest environmental technologies
RGBT IR RIRAT
Seek cost saving opportunities

SREE AR E

Pay attention to customers need and continue to
improve the products to fit customers preference

RERRBEI TEHEER B2 EERRY

Communicate with stakeholders and understand their
concerns

R & RS BBt MIBIRERS
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While climate change imposes physical and transitional risks towards
the Group’s operations, there are also opportunities for the operations

BARBGECOEAERNEETR T BERERE
B BINAE B REUERB 75 AR RZ

if the Group can take the right approach in addressing the issue. M ZEEEBTAERB

Opportunities Description

8 sRER

Resource efficiency The Group seeks to use more efficient production and distribution process and use of recycling

BERFEAME

Energy source
AETR 2R

Products and services

E mm s AR5

Markets
M5

Resilience

it

SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR

PRACTICES

Employment

The Group values its employees as the most crucial assets and
believes that linking business objectives to the Human Resources
(‘HR”) system is a key to success. Therefore, to maintain a fair and
safe working environment to attract and retain talents, clear HR

to reduce operating cost and increase production capacity.

REERNIKABE BN E E K2 #H M2 LU IR A > DARE R & 48 il AN Ko 38 10 A BE o

The Group seeks to use lower-emission sources of energy to reduce exposure to GHG
emission and reduce the operational cost.

NEBEZREABEIRNEER > U R E QAR W [ REE A o

The Group seeks opportunities to shift in consumer preferences to increase revenue and better
competitive position.

REESREGUEHEEENRLT LU N AT S 5 F (Lo

The Group seeks opportunities to access to new market to increase revenue and diversify risk.

AEBEBREAFTHHKD » LUBIIRAR D BURER °

The Group seeks opportunities to substitute or diversify the resource used to ensure resiliency.

AEES R BRRS B EMODRURRI I o
HE-RBEREIER

&%

FERREEAREREE UHEGEREHER
BANERRFGER ERBAE - FIL > 4
AT RZ2ITFREURS | RIEE AT > Hl
ERBANERBMR KIS LR EESE-

policies and guideline is established and delivered to employees.
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HR policies, including organisational structure, working hour,
leave entitlement and reward and compensation system, are
communicated to employees through the circulation of employee
handbook upon commencement of employment and at any time
during employment period when there are updates. In addition,
employment checklist is established to document the procedures
and required documents to be collected during hiring and termination
process. The HR management ensure the established HR policies
and procedures follow relevant labour laws, including but not limited
to Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Employment Ordinance,
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance.

Comprehensive recruitment and promotion policies are established
to ensure processes are carried out in a fair and open manner.
To promote equality and anti-discrimination, standard interview
and evaluation criteria are established, also promotion and salary
increment are benchmarked against individuals’ performance. The
Group committed that employees are only recognised and rewarded
by their contribution, work performance and skills, and will not be
affected by any grounds that are irrelevant, such as age, gender,
physical or mental health status, marital status, family status, race,
skin colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation and other factors.
Voluntary exit interview before resignation is encouraged by the Group
which serves as a feedback channel to detect vulnerability in HR
system and daily operations.

As of 31 December 2023, the total number of employees, who are
in direct employment relationship with the Group, is 229 (2022:
238). This resulted in a decrease of approximately 4% as compared
to last year. The total employee turnover rate is approximately
18% (2022: 27%). During the year, majority of the resigned staff,
at approximately 70%, are factory workers in Mainland China, and
at approximately 86%, are entry level staff. Their job duties mainly
involve drawings, installation and assembly works, machine operation
and administrative works. The turnover rate of these positions is
constantly high in the previous years. Looking forward, we will
continuously review our remuneration package with the aim to
enhance our talent attraction and retention plan.
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The following table sets out breakdowns of the employees’ data of  F&REFIZMER EBHEHER - EH 4P Kt E 2
the Group by gender, employment types, age group and geographic ) RYZ~£E B £ iR 4M -
region.

2023 2022
ZEZ= TETTE
Turnover Number of Turnover Number of
rate employees rate employees
MRE EEHE MARE BE#E
Gender MBI
Male % 21.38% 143 30.93% 147
Female Z 13.56% 86 19.05% 91
Employment types EfEsEa
Senior management BREEE 31.25% 17 25.00% 15
Middle management RAREERE 6.25% 16 10.35% 16
Entry level YNk 18.36% 196 27.27% 207
Age groups FH MR
30 or below 30U T 47.06% 32 66.67% 36
311050 31E50 13.75% 140 19.24% 151
51 or above 51k 12.96% 57 20.20% 51
Geographical regions &
Hong Kong 5 29.89% 44 43.68% 43
PRC AR Pyt 15.79% 185 22.58% 195

Note: The employee turnover rates are calculated using number of izt : EERAXNDFARREEASGUEETY

employees leaving employment divided by average number of BEAHEE
employees for the year.
During the Year 2023, the Group was not aware of any material non- RIZEZ=FE > AEBEFTNETBETANERER

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant {8 S BERE - BEE R FHBS ~ TIERF 8 REA £ F
impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and &\ ZTlb - RIFEREE TWEMER AR
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, —BIFEREREEIRMERE R EMIE T o
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare of its employees.
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Health and Safety

The Group strives to minimise accidents in our workplace. The Group
has established various policies and manuals in workplace, including
machine control manual, workplace safety guideline, healthy tips
brochure, factory safety policy etc., to provide sufficient health and
safety guidance on essential procedures of production and other
daily operations. The Group rigorously sticks to the instructions of
the Quality Management Systems Standard (ISO 9001). Specifically,
project managers are responsible for conducting relevant risk
assessment and implementing necessary measures during the daily
operation process. The staff are required to follow the safety manual
to ensure their actions are completed in a safe and effective manner.
Besides, the Group posts relevant warning labels regarding onsite
health and safety in the construction site to strive for zero accidents of
all persons involved in construction works. The Group is pleased that
no work-related fatalities have been reported in each of the past three
years including the reporting year. However, one (2022: one) incident
of work injury was occurred and the total loss days due to work injury
is 90 (2022: 90) days for the Year 2023.

During the Year 2023, the Group was not aware of material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

Development and Training

The Group believe that bringing out the best of the employees can
drive growth of the Group and achieve its strategic goals. To support
employees maintaining and enhancing their skills and knowledge,
wide range of internal training programs are organised by the Group
to different departments and individual employees. In Year 2023,
the Group has provided a total of 2,198 (2022: 1,041) hours of
occupational training to 214 (2022: 168) employees, representing
approximately 92% (2022: 73%) of staff has been trained and
average training hour per staff was 9.41 (2022: 4.52) hours.

BERZE
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Below table sets out the average training hours and percentage of
employees trained by gender and employment types.

TEREZMHN R ERERE DNESTITE
Bl Y -a= s v

2023 2022
—TCZ= TEE
Percentage Average Percentage Average
of employees training hours of employees training hours
trained per employee trained per employee
EBEEN BSREEFH BEEN SLEETH
BaL 1 2N B P Bt S5 A 55 e
Gender 3l
Male % 88.28% 9.36 68.04% 4.56
Female k28 97.18% 9.50 82.14% 4.49
Employment types fEfEEEs
Senior management BREEE 12.50% 0.06 25.00% 0.63
Middle management PREEE 68.75% 5.50 70.97% 5.71
Entry level INGE 99.75% 10.47 77.27% 4.76
Note: B EE

1. The percentage of employees trained is calculated using number of
trained employees divided by average number of employees for the year.

2. Average training hours per employee are calculated using total training
hours divided by average number of employees for the year.

The Group’s training cover various topics which aim to increase staff’s
awareness and knowledge in, among others, corporate governance,
health and safety, and technical skills. The Group regularly reviews
the training programme to assess whether it is effective for the
development of its employees and looks for continuous improvement
of the training programme in the future.

To further enhance the professional skills of its employees and meet
the needs of the Group’s development goal, the Group encouraged
and reimbursed staff for taking work-related advanced studies and
attend seminars and workshops held by external parties to hone their
skills. Also, the directors and senior managers continuously develop
their management knowledge and professional skills by attending
training courses and reading relevant materials.
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the policies and guidelines in the
employment laws of Hong Kong and the Mainland China, including
elimination of child and forced labour. The Group has established
comprehensive recruitment policies and procedures, such as
obtaining identity documents and performing background checks,
to ensure job applicants are lawfully employed. The Group also
has formal procedures in place to eliminate illegal labour practices
if discovered, including investigation, reporting to authorities,
rectification actions etc. During the Year 2023, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

SOCIAL - OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

A sustainable supply chain requires close alliance between
customers’ demands and suppliers’ capability. An approved supplier
list is established and maintained by the Group which records the
services or products provided by each qualified supplier. The Group
purchase materials only from reputable and reliable suppliers, most
of whom they have long-term relationships with. On procurement,
project teams carefully filter suppliers based on customers’
requirement to ensure the best “fit-for-purpose” suppliers are
selected. The Group also ensures that backup suppliers are always
available in case shortage of supply from one supplier.

During the year, the total number of suppliers increased to 189 (2022:
143). With the aim to develop a sound and diversify supply chain,
the Group have reviewed the current supplier list and expanded its
supplier network during the year.

& T#A|
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To secure the sustainability of supply chain, evaluation mechanism
is in place to ensure the on-going performance of suppliers are
assessed and documented. Both new and existing suppliers are
subject to a regular evaluation considering their product or service
quality, price, delivery time, reputation and experience. The Group
also requires its supply chain partners to uphold the Group’s
principles of ethical business conduct thereby minimizing the
environmental and social risk that may be encountered by the Group.

In addition, supplier vetting process is required for all new suppliers.
The Group’s selection and continued support of suppliers is heavily
influenced by the outcome of supplier vetting process, the quality
of suppliers’ products and their performance affecting occupational
health, safety, quality and the environment. The vetting criteria of
suppliers and subcontractors included but not limit to background
check, certification to a recognised standard and approval by
regulatory authorities. Suppliers with inferior past records of material
environmental or social accidents, such as excessive pollutions
discharges to the environment, exploitation of workers and safety
incidents, will be exempted from the supplier list.

Product Responsibility

The Group place great emphasis on product responsibility. The
quality management system adopted in design, supply, manufacture
and installation of low-voltage switchboards, motor control centres,
and local motor control panels have been assessed and certified as
meeting the requirements under ISO 9001:2015. To ensure products
satisfy the required quality standard, quality control departments
are established in factories to monitor the quality of works. Product
assurance checklists, which detail the testing procedures and
scopes, are employed in different stage of the production. On project
completion, the Group must mandatorily certify that the electrical
installation is in safe working order by sign off the work completion
certificate and endorsed by Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department as required under the Electricity Ordinance. In addition,
the Group has included emergency contact in the product’s operation
manual for any subsequent defects that may occur. If any defects
detected by customers, the project manager would investigate and
follow-up actions would be taken.
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Our quality commitments F{IHIE 8&H

centres, and local motor control panels

mERRERENERKRES P RERRE

\ &k ¢

ERAIFEE P BEimE R

T

The Group’s achievement in product quality is recognisable. The
Group has been included in the register of registered electrical
contractors kept under of the Electricity (Registration) Regulations
and the list of approved suppliers of materials and specialist
contractors for public work under the category of low-voltage cubicle
switchboard installation maintained by the Development Bureau of
the Government. Furthermore, the Group’s major products have
also obtained the Association of Short-Circuit Authorities (ASTA)
Certificates of Verification Tests and Certificates for China Compulsory
Product Certification (CCC) issued by the China Quality Certification
Centre.

During the Year 2023, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to health and safety, advertising labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress. Also, the Group did not receive any complaints related to
product and services, and no record of recalls of products due to
safety and health reasons.

The Group’s senior management is responsible for safeguarding the
intellectual properties. The logo and name of our brands have been
registered as trademarks in Hong Kong and Mainland China. In the
event of intellectual property infringement by third parties, the Group
will engage its legal counsel to take necessary action (i.e. warning
letters, litigation) against them.

Contracts between the Group and employees and relevant parties
contain a confidentiality clause to prevent the disclosure of sensitive
information. In addition, data protection and privacy measures are set
up by the senior management to protect and monitor all data with
regards to customers, suppliers and other relevant parties. The Group
adheres to the relevant privacy rules and regulation in the operating
environment and is unaware of any unauthorised access, accidental,
usage or amendments of these data.

Meticulous design, supply, manufacture and installation of low-voltage switchboards, motor control

KEIOER BT ~ 8 ~ RS KR TR B ACEAE ~ BTS00 K At B HI E AR

Provide customers with satisfactory products and meet customer and legal requirements

Continuous improvement and innovation to make customers more satisfied and assured
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Anti-corruption

Business ethics is required by the Group to be maintained at a high
level with the involvement of all staff. The Group’s code of conduct,
including the employee handbook and conflict of interest policy
required employees to declare gifts received from clients, and to
comply with applicable requirements relating to the privacy and the
confidentiality of information received in the course of business.

Any form of corruption, bribes and fraud is strictly prohibited by the
Group. Whistleblowing policy was established to allow employees
to report any misconduct or malpractice events noticed. The Group
will always support all employees to raise allegations without fear of
retaliation. It is the Group’s policy to handle all whistle-blowing cases
in a confidential and sensitive manner. Employees who raise true and
appropriate allegations will be treated fairly, and are protected from
unfair dismissal, harm, or improper disciplinary actions, even if the
allegations raised cannot be proven. If employees have reasonable
concerns about any suspected misconducts, suspicious or illegal
behaviour (including bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering),
they can directly report the matters verbally or in writing to the senior
management or the audit committee. Any matters of genuine concern
are to be thoroughly investigated by the management and actions
will be taken accordingly. The Board would monitor the aforesaid
implementation and arrange training related to anti-corruption and
anti-bribery on a regular basis.

During the Year 2023, the Group was not aware of material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

SOCIAL - COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group continues to realise the importance of corporate social
responsibility and has stepped up conscious efforts to establish closer
ties and interaction with local communities.

In the view of recovery from pandemic, the Group actively emphasis
on cultivating a sense of responsibility within its employees and
motivating them to enhance their community services. Meanwhile,
the Group will consistently look for any opportunities to participate in
charitable activities to fulffill its social responsibilities.
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CONTENT INDEX

ENVIRONMENTAL
B4

]

Section reference

Gl

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 . e

General Disclosure

Information on:

e Environmental

a) the policies; and Protection
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—RR IR EE ERBERRRERBIHB AR THNEE S - EERBEEE o IRIBIREE
MEERN :
a BE;, K&
b) BTEZEREAEREHNR KR TR R EBR R
R EY BN E E T AREARTENERERER
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. e Emissions
RASRAE IS IRAT A BEm R e S AR R FE R B o o B4
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas e Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
RASRAAUIEIRAL.2 BHix@EEN) REREE EE2) BRERETNE CUEET ) & @0 o BE
BR)EBE MUSESE SERKE) o
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, * \Waste
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RASRAEMIERAL3 FRELX S EREEYEE UMW) k ER BE MMUESESE ° BEEY)
i~ GIERME) °
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where * \Waste

B BRI 1RAL.4

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FREABEEEYEE UWEE) K ER BE MMUEBESE
i~ BIERME) °

* BEEY

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve e Emissions
them.

RAIRAEMIETRA1.5 HA AP 5% 1L AV BEIR B AR e 7 B0 B AR PR SR ERFE 1 © o BE

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are * \Waste
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

RASRAA IS IRAL1.6 HMRIERERBEEEYN A ERBEIRZ TR BR R AE ° BEEY)

2 B AR P B EIE I ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL
RiR

Section reference

TERAE &

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : HIRfER

General Disclosure

Information on:
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

e Use of Resources

—AR I ER =1 s BRfEMA
BUEFER (BIZFER K REMEFIE) BIEHER
KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, e Use of Resources

B B2 AR AR 1RA2.1

gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

RENEDNERERHEEER WE Rl 2FEE UTE
FE) RBE MUSEEEN SERMH) ©

s EIR(EM

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production e Use of Resources
volume, per facility).

RSB AE IS 1RA2.2 MEKERTE USESEM BERKMHSH) ° s BRfEMA

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to e Use of Resources
achieve them.

RSB AE IS IRA2.3 H 4P 5% 12 BY BE IR 150 PR 3 i B AR e A4 2 B B AR P ER A T o s BRfEMA

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit e Use of Resources

RIS IE1RA2.4

for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WM REGE B KRE LB EAME RIINKERANERER
ZED B IZPTIREE T ©

s EIR1EMA

KPI'A2.5

RS2 AE 5 1RA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
S mPTAEEMRNEE UWHEH) k QIER) SEEBh

=
==

e Use of Resources

s EREM
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ENVIRONMENTAL
RiR

Section reference

TERAE &

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[BEAS : IRIERRAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the

e The Environment

environment and natural resources. and Natural
Resources
— ARk E BEAERHIRERRXRERENERZENTER e RIBERKRXARER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment e Emissions
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. e \Waste

B 52 4R A5 1RAS.A BRI HHRBEARAERNEATERERNEEFRHF

20178

e Use of Resources

e The Environment
and Natural
Resources

o i

° EEEEY)

s ERMEA

e RIFRRAER

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[BEA4 . RIZEME

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related

issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the

e Climate Change

issuer.

—ARIRE BER#EN R EREEKRAIEHETAERTEE AR EEMABE o RIREME
BB o

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have e Climate Change

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

BB ERFIEREZETANEAREEEALDE  UkAE
HzZEMEMERNTH -

B AR IR 1RA4.1

. TR
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SOCIAL Section reference
e TR E &
Aspect B1: Employment

[EEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

e Employment

—AR IR ER BRFNREE - BERSH TENE -BRA -FEEI 2T o EfR
16~ RIERUREMFFEREFND
a BE, &
b) BTHEIHFWkEE -BEERSH TEFE-AKERE 9%
e IR -REGSREMNGEREFNBENEETAR
BAFENERERER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or e Employment

B AR E1EB1 .1

parttime), age group and geographical region.
MR BEEE (N2 ERE) - FRANRMES DN RS
2o

o 21

KPI B1.2

RS IE1RB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

7R BEEE - SR AN R ES DR ES R

e Employment

o EfR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EEB2 : REREAEZZE

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BRRHZ2 THRREREAREESSRPHEN SN !

a BEK, &
by EBTHARHZENIFRERGERERSHBEGCESERN

HETANBEARENRBZERER

e Health and Safety
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SOCIAL
e

Section reference

TERAE &

KPI B2.1

B S 5 1RB2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year.
RBF=EFEEF (BEREFEE) EENRAITERAMIETH
N 9-dn =

e Health and Safety

o BEHEZE

KPI B2.2
PSR4 1518B2.2

Lost days due to work injury.
RAIEEEIIERH-

e Health and Safety
o BEEHZS

KPI B2.3

RS AE R F51RB2.3

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
HM PRI R R B 2 2 a7 > MU BRRITRER G X

e Health and Safety

o BEEHELZE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : % &Kl

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

e Development and
Training

—fR IR EE BREAEREBEBITLERMENFH R AENEE - M) /E8) o BERKIE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee e Development and

% 92 4R A5 1%B3. 1

category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
BURREESER NEREEE RREERE) BIDEIEEN
ERa=

Training

o BRRIE

KPI B3.2

B AR 1515B3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
4R R e B8 RI8 D NS5 RS TR A T35 5K o

e Development and
Training
o R RIE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4 : % T 4R

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

ARIPy L& T a5aH%5 T :

a BEK, &

b) #ETFTHEIEETRBEBHHEMNBETABTEATZENE
RAER AR

e | abour Standards

. HIRAY
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SOCIAL
e

Section reference

TERAE &

KPI B4.1

B AR5 1%B4.1

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour.
HWaig s E B SRR L E T at5aslss TRFSHE

e | abour Standards

o HTHA

KPI B4.2

B AE 1515842

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
S IR H bR 2 F 1T A PR T

e | abour Standards

. STHA

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

BmEBS : e EE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

e Supply Chain
Management

— RN EIEMEEANIRIR R G RREBES - o {HEEIREIR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. e Supply Chain

B R G X5 1RB5. 1

piuEe s HMHEHHE -

Management
o {HEEIEEIR

KPI B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

e Supply Chain
Management

RASRE IE1EB5.2 B BERERARERNES FERZEANERER#E UKk o HIEIEEIR
BRIEAINRITRERF &

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social e Supply Chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Management
monitored.

AR AR XI5 12B5.3 AR R EEIRIEN L E REIEA > LUK WA E A & o HAEHRER
BZEER -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable e Supply Chain

B AR5 1RB5.4

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
R EEEERHEES NN BIRENERMREWIES > MUKk
WA B AN BRI Z F 186 -

Management

o HAEEERE
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SOCIAL
e

Section reference

HERAE &

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.

e Product
Responsibility

— RN BERFMREERNRFENREEZS - BESE - RERMBEEEN s EmEBE

B ¥ AR

a HEK,&

by BFERERZ BEERBEEREINEE -PMEHNERK

RFEURAIE /B ANEET ABERTENARNERE
o

KPI 6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for e Product

safety and health reasons. Responsibility
RS AR X35 7156.1 Az kERRERGEEHENTENERBBE B AL s EmER
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and e Product

how they are dealt with. Responsibility
R AN E15B6.2 W BB RAE R AR TSR SRV B8 R dN e BRI RV J5 7% o s EmER
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting e Product

intellectual property rights. Responsibility
AR AR XI5 12B6.3 Ht A RIS ST R AR SE H a8k A RO MU o s EmufE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. e Product

Responsibility

RASR A XI5 15B6.4 M E 218 T 872 K E m B2 T o e EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and e Product

how they are implemented and monitored. Responsibility
AR AR XI5 12B6.5 HEEBRMREMRABERIIHEM > MR B i %F s EmufE

o
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SOCIAL
e

Section reference

TERAE &

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7 : REE

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

e Anti-corruption

— IR BRIBA LIRS ~ B0 s MFF RO R ¢ e REE
a BE &
b) ZBTFEER PR -UFRABEEANBEETARTERTE
HARBDEEER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices e Anti-corruption

B S 5 1RBT A1

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.
BREARNHH A EERHESREABRITABRNEBERERE
m1¢@ = &m{¢un% ©°

KPI B7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

® Anti-corruption

RASRE I EBT .2 MBI R BRI UREARITRER A  REE
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. e Anti-corruption
RS AE IE1RBT.3 HitMEERESRENREBE - c RERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EmB8 : HEKRE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

e Community
Investment

—fR IR EE BRMME2ERTHRAEREEMTHeREMBREERE s HHEKHE
BT RA B mAVEER o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, e Community

% $2 1A 25 1%B8. 1

KPI B8.2

RESREMIEIERS.2

labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIERMERE MBS RIEEE - HIER - BE-XE-BH) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

AEIHRBFABAER WERIERE) o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAAZBENR S

BOwm g o W B WA WA
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF REM GROUP (HOLDINGS)
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
@ CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of REM
Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter

REEEE

EEEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RPN ESMFARERRESER

Revenue recognition

W8 i AT

In 2023, the Group’s revenue amounting to approximately
HK$166,784,000.
N2 =%F> BEENWELA166,784,00078 7T

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit matter
due to its significance to the consolidated financial statements.

AR WS R S M B MRVEERM IR HRE SRR

=i EIE

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition
included:
RMERKEERNESEFEE

Obtaining an understanding of the revenue
process of the business;
TRREBRINEIRAZ ;

Understand the key controls over the recognition;

TR E BT

Testing a sample of revenue transactions
recorded to the respective customer contracts,
underlying invoices and cash receipts; and
RERENKNE ZHEE BHENT R SR 8k
BERBREWBRETHEZE &

Evaluating the revenue is recorded in the
appropriate accounting period by performing a
cut-off test on revenue before and after the end of
the reporting period.

AR RS HRAIEIN R ERETE RS S HER
ABE gt RN o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BWIAZBENR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

Hth&E
EAREFRANHMEN AT -HMBENBEF
BAFMBER  EFEREEMBRE LI
2 GHE =

BAHESVBRENERE TRERMER
HATATHZFHMENEREATEANRE
A5 o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

ZHEMMBE st & M B RRAIEN
BT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BWIAZBENR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continuea

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

ZHEMF B sHir & MR IR R AEDN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continuea)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chun Yip

Practising Certificate number P07004

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024

ZHEMI B s & M IR IR R AEDN
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
trafEmREMEETER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HiE —Z =&+ _HA=+—HItFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAT FAET
Revenue &= 5 166,784 219,293
Cost of sales THE M2 (124,863) (177,345)
Gross profit EH 41,921 41,948
Other income, gains and losses, net B A~ I m K E518 358 6 2,727 4,101
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAZ (5,712) (8,183)
Administrative and other expenses THREMA (30,600) (28,900)
Finance costs B A 7 (353) 619)
Profit before taxation BRI ALE 8 7,983 8,347
Income tax expense FRiSfMB =X 9 (985) (31)
Profit for the year FEREF 6,998 8,316
Other comprehensive expense FREMZEMAS !
for the year:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently B # o] 55 E #5748 E 187 1
to profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences arising on HMEBINEBRFIEENESR
translation of foreign operations =% (1,714) (5,955)
Total comprehensive income FRNEZEBRALELE
for the year 5,284 2,361
Earnings per share sREF
- basic and diluted (HK cents) —EAREE B 12 0.39 0.46
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
kR e AR

At 31 December 2023 R-ZE_=F+_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E°= s F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
I EE F#ET FET
Non-current assets EREEE

Property, plant and equipment ME-BE R E 13 20,466 19,105
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 4,941 4,729
Rental deposits HEEE 21 21
Contract assets BHNEE 16 6,613 6,874
32,041 30,729

Current assets MENEE
Inventories =78 15 36,190 36,789
Trade and other receivables FE U B 5 AR =R R ELfh FE WL 7R 1B 17 62,128 85,046
Contract assets BNEBE 16 20,676 12,417
Amount due from a director FENEE IS 18 5 18
Bank balances and cash RITEFRKRIRE 19 53,000 71,091
171,999 205,361

Current liabilities mEnaE
Trade and other payables BB ZRMRHMBEMNRIE 20 30,053 67,493
Contract liabilities =E=NE 21 1,350 2,546
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 971 773
Amount due to a director R —%EEIE 18 - 49
Tax payable FE{IIRIE 1,131 619
33,505 71,480
Net current assets MBEEZFE 138,494 133,881
Total assets less current liabilites 42 ER AR 170,535 164,610
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
trEMBIIR

At 31 December 2023 W _E_=F+_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= B HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B s FET TFAET
Non-current liabilities EREIERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 1,690 1,482
Provision for long service payments RIARF EHE 470 480
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEEE 23 443 -
2,603 1,962
Net assets BEERE 167,932 162,648
Capital and reserves B R #E
Share capital i 24 18,000 18,000
Share premium and reserves B REREHE 149,932 144,648
Total equity W ABER 167,932 162,648

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 171 were FHBFEI7TIEMNE GV BEHRFTENR S _MFE=
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 B - +HHEESSH EREET|E  WHh 5

March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: EERAREE
WAN MAN KEUNG LEUNG KA WAI
FR@A 2R
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EZE EZE

Annual Report 2023 — &~ = FF 97



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B A A 2L 4=
For the year ended 31 December 2028 HE —Z =&+ _HA=+—HItFE

Share Share Capital Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
BA RHEE BLAEE  ERRE  FREER ks

HK§000  HK$'000  HKEO00  HK$'000  HKEO00  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TET

(Note)
(Hi3E)
At 31 December 2021 RZE &
+-_A=+—H 18,000 157,668 (80,018) 6,486 58,151 160,287
Profit for the year FRiEF - - - - 8,316 8,316
Other comprehensive expense HM2mEES - - - (5,955) - (5,955)
Total comprehensive (expense)  FERZE B WA LBZE
income for the year - - - (5,955) 8,316 2,361
At 31 December 2022 g —
+-_A=+—H 18,000 157,668 (80,018) 531 66,467 162,648
Profit for the year FEREF] - - - - 6,998 6,998
Other comprehensive expense  EfZERS - - - (1,714) = (1,714)
Total comprehensive (expense)  ERRE %) WAL
income for the year - - - (1,714) 6,998 5,284
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F
+-B=+—-H 18,000 157,668 (80,018) (1,183) 73,465 167,932

Note: The capital reserve represents the difference between the net assets [t . BAfEETEREM Capital Limited ("REM Capital 1)
value of REM Capital Limited (‘REM Capital’) at the date at which it was RAABIWHEE HWEEFESREM CapitaliR#
acquired by the Company and the share capital of REM Capital pursuant TE+tFERSHENRACENER-.
to the group reorganisation in 2017.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HiE —Z =&+ _HA=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E== T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Operating activities REEE
Profit before taxation PRI AR A 7,983 8,347
Adjustments for: MUTEIBEEHAE :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #12 BB R R T E 3,197 3,411
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERARBEITE 1,041 700
Write off of property, plant and equipment I 2 ~ BB R s 1% - 1,055
Net impairment loss recognised on trade BRI E ZRA RGN
receivables and contract assets BEREREFEE 400 277
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWZE - BERKE
plant and equipment &A) E51E (41) 21
Reversal of long service payments RHRE O (10) (24)
Interest income FEWA (1,368) (390)
Finance costs BB AL A 353 619
Operating cash flows before movements EEETEHNFIKERENE
in working capital 11,555 14,016
Increase in inventories FEEn (222) (1,394)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables e H&f’f% IR EL At PR W R IE
A, () 22,804 (22,391)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHEE (gm R (8,525) 2,053
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables %ﬁ%%ﬁ%’)’\&ﬂﬁﬂﬁgﬁﬁlﬁ
L) 18N (24,438) 3,595
Decrease in restricted bank balances xﬁEﬁ?JfEﬁ SERRD - 4,347
Decrease in amount due from a director FEW— R EBERIE R 13 -
Decrease in amount due to a director B —REERHIERLD (49) =
Decrease in contract liabilities sH8aEFD (1,187) (5,341)
Cash used in operations KEFRAZIRE (49) (5,115)
Net income tax paid BIFTSHRF 58 (13) (19)
Net cash used in operating activities KEERHPTRIRE P EE 62) (5,130)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mAaRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE —Z —=F+_HA=1+—HILFE

2023 2022
—F_= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FEx
Investing activities KEEE
Interest received B UWF 2 1,216 238
Decrease/(increase) in short-term bank deposits =18 % ZIEARV IS EASR 1T
maturing after three months HFERURL (8 30,150 (30,150)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVZE -BEKE (5,501) (515)
Proceed from disposal of property, HEWZE - BEREKE
plant and equipment Fri8sRIE 553 22
Net cash from/(used) in investing activities SEERBAE (FTA)
& 58 26,418 (30,405)
Financing activities MEEE
Repayment of lease liabilities EETHESRE (917) (602)
Advance from other loans HEMB® - 12,575
Repayment of other loans BEAMER (12,411) (4,349)
Interest paid BEfFE (145) 87)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities REEE A FriERE
FEE (13,473) 7,537
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents R& KIBEEEYIEM,
CRiZL) 2 &R 12,883 (27,998)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FYRERIREEEBY
of the year 40,941 71,752
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes PERE ) E (824) (2,813
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRBERIREEEY BPIRE
represented by bank balances and cash TR RIRE 53,000 40,941
Analysis of bank balances and cash IRITHEER IR DT
Cash and cash equivalents BENRIBEEEEY 53,000 40,941
Short-term bank deposits maturing after —EA BRI HRRITER
three months - 30,150
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEBRIRE 53,000 71,091
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17177 N |

iR MR R MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HiE —Z =&+ _HA=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

REM Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with
limited liability on 15 March 2017 under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and its shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
11 May 2018 (the “Listing”). The Company’s immediate and
ultimate holding company are Unique Best Limited and WAN
Union Limited, respectively, which were companies incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”"). The addresses of the
Company’s registered office and the principal place of business
are Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1- 1108, Cayman Islands and Unit 5, 4/F., Phase
Il Chai Wan Industrial City, No. 70 Wing Tai Road, Hong Kong,
respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in sales and manufacturing
of low-voltage electrical power distribution and control devices.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Definition of Accounting

HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction
International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to
HKAS 12
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

102

(a)

(b)

Amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce
the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting mechanism”).
In addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date. In July 2023,
the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides accounting guidance relating to the
offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism.
In particular, the guidance indicates that entities may
account for the accrued benefits derived from mandatory
MPF contributions that are expected to be used to reduce
the LSP payable to an employee as deemed contributions
by that employee towards the LSP.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
HKICPA guidance and expect to adopt this guidance
with retrospective application in its consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra M IRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #lZ — T _—F+_HA=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EEHﬁﬁ.J)S’z..«%PEJé% 7SR S

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG #A) (TFEARFRSEN) @

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

(c) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but (c) BEMEREKRERZIETREET
not yet effective ERMBRSER

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2023 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback?
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these developments in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share— based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS
36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policy information are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

3.
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3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities
comprising the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra M IRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continueq)

The Group’s revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“‘HKFRS 9"). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group'’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of workshop, warehouse and staff quarters that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short- term lease are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continueq)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of- use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.

INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continueq)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payments
under the Employment Ordinance are the amounts of future
benefits that employees have earned in return for their services
in the current and prior periods. The obligations are calculated
by attributing the benefits to periods of services in accordance
with Employment Ordinance and discounted to their present
value and after deducting the fair value of any related assets,
including retirement scheme benefits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of (other than in a business combination) assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair values of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continuea)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, amount due from a director and bank
balance and cash) and contract assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-months ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate grouping
and individually for credit-impaired balance.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

118

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continuea)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iiij adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra M IRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; and

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

120

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped
on the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets are assessed together
as a group);

o Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra M IRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amount
due to a director and lease liabilities) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(,e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
notes fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra M IRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E —E —=F+_HA=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties interest which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between
the leasehold land and building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-
of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building elements and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire property is generally
classified as leasehold land and building under property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
pbasis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporate assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the cash— generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash—
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata
to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined using weighted
average method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

3.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continuea)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

3.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continueq)

Estimated provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix through group of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns, after considering internal
credit ratings of trade debtors, repayment history and past due
status of respective trade receivables to calculate ECL for the
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision matrix
is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonably,
supportably and available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade receivables and contract assets
with credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The loss
allowance amount of the credit-impaired trade receivables is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows with the
consideration of expected future credit-losses. The provision of
ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in note 26.

Estimated write-down of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimation costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the
current market conditions, estimated selling prices, movements
and subsequent transaction prices of the finished goods. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in these factors. The
Group will reassess the estimation at the end of each year. As
at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$36,190,000 (2022: HK$36,789,000).

4.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents amounts received and receivable for the
sales of low-voltage electrical power distribution and control
devices, less discounts, if any, during the year.

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM”"), regularly review revenue
analysis by product types, including primarily low-voltage
switchboard, local motor control panel, motor control centre,
electrical distribution board and control box and electrical parts
and replacements and by location of delivery to customers. The
CODM considered the operating activities of sales of all products
as a single operating segment. Other than revenue analysis, the
CODM reviews the profit or loss for the year of the Group as a
whole to make decisions about performance assessment and
resources allocation. The operation of the Group constitutes one
single operating segment under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”
and accordingly, no separate segment information is prepared.
No segment assets and liabilities are presented as the CODM
does not regularly review segment assets and liabilities.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by products for the year is as
follows:

5.

m R B E
3 5 BL4E PO K IR EEEC BB R BB D R
B B WUR BEUGRIE B0 (0A) -

FABDATES BEBEEREKSE (£2
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BECEE  BEVE BTG R TS
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B UkizmE R X ERM BRI m D
o TEEERRERHENA EMBEE
EERA—EE—EE D R m
S TBEERRERAEAEERRNF
W8 m U IF A AN G REIR D ECHY
RR-RIBEBMBREER TSR EED
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o EIE BEESER D EER AR E
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2023 2022

=== B F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Low-voltage switchboard REREEEE 65,349 95,295
Local motor control panel EENI R I B 52,597 69,711
Motor control centre EENE IS A0 24,657 30,499
Flectrical distribution board and control box Bt B 48 K 21l %6 19,351 15,968
Electrical parts and replacements BEREHRERMY 4,830 7,820
166,784 219,293
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The Group sells all products directly to customers. Revenue is

recognised when control of the goods has transferred or the
services has performed, being when the goods or services have
been delivered to the customers’ specific location and customer

5.

WERAEBER @

FEFEERAEFHEMBEER EBRIE

HECERARFEET

BERIERBE

*ﬁ%%)ﬁ Z A5 T HhBE B = P R A) Eﬁfﬁﬁ
sl AR B EER R AEEN WG

acceptance has been obtained. The Directors of the Company 18 B 5] B P BT o
considered that the Group’s revenue is recognised at a point in
time.
Revenue from external customers, based on location of delivery BRaEEREMME DN RBINTRS U
to customers is as follows: AT
2023 2022
—E=% /B HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Revenue U &=
- Hong Kong —B8 146,212 172,820
— Macau —EPg 14,364 33,547
— Mainland China — R E Rt 6,208 12,926
166,784 219,293

Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group of the corresponding years are as

PAERE EE R RN A S B AU EE10%

2 ERAEEWRZNT

follows:

2023 2022

—E=F BT TH

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Customer A ZHA 27,257 24,780

Customer B =B 19,898 77,989
Customer C ZHAC 18,680 N/A*F 78 B~

*

The revenue generated from the relevant customers did not
exceed 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the relevant year.

Y MR REENBE A EEAEE N

FEZHRRZAIN0% o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WK EER @

(Continued)
An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets other than rental AEBRZREBRMIBUER DNIERBDEE
deposits and contract assets are presented below based on (BEERENEERIN 2MEFNNW
their physical geographical location: S5
2023 2022
== .=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Hong Kong 58 5,288 5,742
Mainland China FR [ Py 3t 20,119 18,092
25,407 23,834

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HU{A - Wm k1838

2023 2022

—E=F .=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FHET

Net exchange gain bE %2 W 545 2,855
Interest income FEUA 1,368 390

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEWZE - BERKZE
plant and equipment ‘A (8518 ) 41 1)
Others Hih 773 877
2,727 4,101
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBERE

2023 2022

—E=F ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FET

Interest expenses on other loans HMERKF B 208 532
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESEFERX 145 87
353 619
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. PR#s g3l
2023 2022
—E=F BT F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Profit before taxation has been arrived PRIETEF B30 Gt A)
at after charging(crediting): UTEBERBER:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment#) % - B = K & T &
— cost of sales —IHER A 1,038 954
— administrative and other expenses —1THRREMEX 2,159 2,457
Total depreciation of property, ME- BB KREEEITE
plant and equipment 3,197 3,411
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 1,041 700
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) EEME HaE11)
— fees —iE 504 504
— salaries and other allowance — e R EAMERL 2,032 2,108
— retirement benefit scheme contributions — B IREF) B R 36 36
2,572 2,648
Staff salaries and other allowance BT #& R EMER 32,207 34,120
Staff retirement benefits scheme contributions & T 3B K& F 51 2k 3,666 3,854
Total staff costs BT AR 38,445 40,622
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z NN = 620 600
Cost of inventories recognised as RAHEMEAZFERA
cost of sales 110,493 166,094
Net impairment losses recognised on trade B FEREN B Z R
receivables and contract assets ABREEREBIEFE 400 277
Employment Support Scheme subsidies in & B B B iR F S 5%
relation to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (TCOVID-19)) BIfRFAZEtE!
(“COVID-19”) (Note) AL (95D - (886)
Write off of property, plant and equipment — #EE¥) %~ BB Kk 5 - 1,055

Note: COVID-19 related Employment Support Scheme subsidies

Mzt REBEBFHITHE (EEFHITHRE)) K

from the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR’) FFEICOVID- 19 R Bt £ st B B B K
government has been offset against the staff costs of the Group. EEETAEEHE
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9.

134

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FRiSIRAX

2023 2022
—E=F BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
The taxation charge comprises: MRIARZ B4E !
Current tax BPERTR 1A
Hong Kong Profits Tax EHFER
— Provision for the year —REEEE 554 =
— Under-provision in respect of —BEFERETE
prior years - 2
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT") hEE AR HME T EFFER
(M ZPTSH)
— Provision for the year —REEEE - 29
— Over-provision in respect of prior year ~—BEF EBREEE (12) =
Deferred tax (Note 23) IRERIB (B2E23) 443 =
Income tax expense PSR 985 31

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated by applying
the estimated annual effective tax rate of 16.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2023, except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime (2022: No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax is provided as the year's taxable profits of the subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong have been set-off by previous year’s
losses).

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, no provision for EIT is provided as the subsidiaries did
not have any assessable profits subject to EIT in Mainland China
during the year (2022: the tax rate of the subsidiaries in Mainland
China is 25%).

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT
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I

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FRIEMRAZ @
Income tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit ERNFERBESTEGESEa REMEEW
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss mRNBIBRIRATG A HERAOT ©
and other comprehensive income as follows:
2023 2022
== T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
Profit before taxation PRI BTIE A 7,983 8,347
Tax charge at Hong Kong Profits tax rate BEBNERETEDN
RIS H 1,152 1,377
Tax effect of origination and reversal of R ERES REBLNRBERE
temporary differences 2,158 (932)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AHNRAZNRE T E
tax purpose 959 1,130
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEZRRBRANRBEE
tax purpose (225) (230)
Tax effect of different tax rates of FRE Py th & SE B B B A B
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China TEBRENTZE (1,098) 333
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REBRIEBEENREZE 430 205
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised FRENABFFEERERIRE
tax loss utilised in the year EENREE (2,379) (1,854)
(Over-provision) under-provision for BEFE (BREHE) BETRE
prior years (12) 2
Income tax charge for the year FERNERAX 985 31

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$8,356,000 (2022: HK$23,915,000) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of nil (2022: HK$3,439,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
these tax losses of HK$8,356,000 (2022: HK$20,476,000) due
to the unpredictability of relevant future profit streams. Included
in unused tax losses are tax losses of HK$8,266,000 (2022:
HK$8,368,000) that may be carried forward for five years from
the year in which the tax losses arose, the remaining unused tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

RIEZ=F+"A=+—H xEBEBX
AR IEE18498,356,0008 70 (ZE -
F 1 23,915,000/ 7t) A HIEIH AR 2R EF] ©

MZEERE(CE "4 3439000%75)
HERERIBE E - M ERARIOEFIR R
A T8 A 1 oK Hh 52 E FR TE 5 188,356,000
BT (CTEZ 24 120,476,000 7T) FER
BILRMIBEE st AXBHAREBIENS
8,266,000/ 7T (ZZ Z 24 : 8,368,0007%8
70 WRIBEE HOEEMEBEEEDN

FHEREFRTUGE BRI REBARES
EP] RE R RHRAE o
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9.

10.

11.

136

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Deferred taxation has not been recognised in respect of the
undistributed retained profits earned by the subsidiaries in
Mainland China amounting to HK$8,489,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$11,854,000), as the
management of the Group are of the opinion that the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the year (2022: nil).

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the Group to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company during the year
are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

9.

10.

11.

FriSIRR> @

HABTERMFBATRBEE_S - =
FE+ A=+ —HLEFEEMRBEINKRD
B{R 85 58,489,0008 T (ZE - _F :
11,854,000/ 7T) FERIELERIE > RA AR
EEEEER AR E B ST H O
= BB B R R R B = RE TN 0] B 2R AT BE
g

HQ l%\

ARBR B ZFHEAARFEER
REZMHERIKERS  BEFEDERTR
BMERRKEEURE CEZ2F:

EF - FTETHAERESMNE

7y

EFRTETHAEME

FEBREFAENHBENERTEERIT
BUBH MM EFIBW T

BE-_TE-_=F+-"B=+—HLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees  allowance Bonuses contributions Total
HER BARER
ik HfthRAk 64 BEEEA “it
Name of directors HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
ERHSY FHET FTET TET FTET FTET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wan Man Keung (Note ) FRBRE B:2) - 1,080 200 18 1,298
Mr. Leung Ka Wai (Note j RREIE Wa2) - 552 200 18 770
Non-executive director FRITES
Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis BRERLT 120 - - - 120
Independent non-executive BiAFEHTES
directors
Ms. Ng Ching Ying REEUT 144 - - - 144
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing BHRESE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex RERRE 120 - - - 120
504 1,632 400 36 2,572
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND MM.EF - FTETHRAERESMNS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) &

EFRTETHAEME @

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E-_ 4+ -_B=+—HItEE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees allowance Bonuses  contributions Total
ek RRER
ik Hft2ah BEGE Te4r 1t
Name of directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEND FET FTET TEL AT TEL
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wan Man Keung (Note ) FRBAE W32) - 780 400 18 1,198
Mr. Leung Ka Wai (Note j) RREIE B732) - 528 400 18 946
Non-executive director FRITES
Mrs. Kan Wan Wai Yee Mavis BREGZL 120 = = = 120
Independent non-executive BIFRTES
directors
Ms. Ng Ching Ying BEETTL 144 - - - 144
Mr. Cheng Sum Hing BHRERE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Ng Chi Keung Alex RERRE 120 - - - 120
504 1,308 800 36 2,648
Notes: MIsE -

FREBTCESERTDEFTETER  RRES
EREANBITHAEBS

0] Mr. Wan Man Keung is the chairman of the board and Mr. Leung
Ka Wai is the Chief Executive of the Company.

(i)  No director received any emoluments from the Group as an (i) FERAEEHERESZMAEFHRIN FRMN
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation AREEFIMARFNEE N BERBHE (CZ
for loss of office during the year (2022: nil). No director waived or TIE D) HEREERERREREEM

agreed to waive any emoluments. FrEN o

tHRBGTEENHEEREREFNEANBDER
EEFMRENEHEEAEEBRARTSE
BRZERD - EXPIRIERATEERETL
FRTEFNHFWNEZR S RREFAER
TATEERIRS

The emoluments of the above executive directors include those services
rendered by them to the Group in connection with the management of
affairs of the Group and the Company during the year. The emoluments
of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE —Z —=F+_HA=1+—HILFE

NEF -FTETHRAEREESME

#
B S %

rEBLIRESFMALH — (CF
TTFEImR) ATHMEARER EX
NAERBEF-RNBE_ZE_=F+"A2
=+—HEEE BRTOR(CE_F:=
) ALHIBEEFIEIMT ¢

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continueq)

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
one (2022: two) of them were directors of the Company whose
emolument is disclosed above. Details of the emoluments of the
remaining four (2022: three) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2023, are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries and other allowance i R HnEE, 3,427 2,552
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIET BT 72 50
3,499 2,602

The emoluments of the highest paid employees were within the EeamMEENMEENUTEHE :

following bands:

2023 2022
—=== BT
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A™ AEL
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %1,000,00058 75 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 21,500,000 75 1 -

RMEFEE *EEREREAARNESRHE

EsFMAL (BREERES) AE
B F B MAEEBR RN IIARBER
S IE A BER AR E -

In both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. SR & F

The calculation of the basic earnings per share for the year is FRERERBHZSTHETLER M TFEE
based on the following:

2023 2022
—E°= T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Earnings for the year attributable to AR ESREARTN
owners of the Company for the purpose KRB)EB ANELFERER
of basic earnings per share 6,998 8,316
2023 2022
'000 ‘000
The T
Weighted average number of ordinary BRstEESRERBTIN
shares for the purpose of basic earnings TR IETHEE
per share 1,800,000 1,800,000
No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no HIYMEFEESEBEEZTZER R
potential ordinary shares in issue during both years. EE7BREERT -
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—

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

140

FH_RA=1T—HILFE

13. M E -BE KRR E

Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold Construction Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings improvements in progress machinery  equipment vehicles Total
HELHK fEns BE RE-#B
BF ®iE EEIR RigE E HE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAR TAR TAT TAT
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ-fF
+-B=1+-H 26,012 7,559 - 9,051 8,329 3,724 54,675
Additions RE - - - - 465 50 515
Disposal HE - - - - - (100) (100)
Written off s - (1,864) - (39) (224) - 2,121)
Exchange adjustment ERAZ (1,775) (319) - (672) (149) (50) (2,965)
At 31 December 2022 RIB-Z&
+ZB=1+-H 24,237 5,376 - 8,346 8,421 3,624 50,004
Additions AE - - 1,795 63 2,850 793 5,501
Disposals HE - - - (802) (10) (909) (1,721)
Exchange adjustment ERHE (587) (74) (12) (200) (64) (18) (955)
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=f%
+ZB=1—H 23,650 5,302 1,783 7,407 11,197 3,490 52,829
At 31 December 2021 RZIE--&
+-B=1+—H 12,544 3,512 - 4,849 7,124 2,120 30,149
Provided for the year FEREHE 1,193 926 - 368 411 513 3411
Eiminated on disposals ~ FAHE B - - - S = (67) (67)
Eliminated on written off KIS EFE S5 - (836) - (16) (214) - (1,066)
Exchange adjustment ERHR (920) (116) - (359) (100) (49) (1,538)
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZF
+ZB=1+—H 12,817 3,486 - 4,848 7,221 2,527 30,899
Provided for the year FEREHE 1,279 740 - 439 380 359 3,197
Eliminated on disposals 7 HE R T8 - - - (762) ©) (438) (1,209)
Exchange adjustment ERHE (338) (35) - (104) (30) (17) (524)
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=f
+ZB=1—H 13,758 4,191 - 4,421 7,562 2,431 32,363
NET BOOK VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2023 s
+ZB=1+—H 9,892 1,111 1,783 2,986 3,635 1,059 20,466
At 31 December 2022 RIB-_&
+-B=1+—H 11,420 1,890 - 3,498 1,200 1,097 19,106
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BERRZE @

(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the
following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and over the shorter of the remaining
buildings term of the lease or 4%

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of the remaining
term of the lease or 20%

10% — 20%

20% - 33.3%

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 20% — 25%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s leasehold land and

buildings situated in Hong Kong with remaining lease term of 14

years and carrying amount of HK$1,906,000 (2022: remaining

lease term of 15 years and carrying amount of HK$2,044,000)

were secured for the banking facilities granted to the Group.

The Group is the registered owner of the property interests in
these land and buildings. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire those property interests.

WEDLME -BERRFER ERIRE
BRON B 5t e HL 5t RIBREER » #1E
sStRlEREHRUERENE  SEHERT
T

HEItRET 2R eREHAE4%

UBREeE A %)
S E3 1 B RER AR T20%
UBREE A7)
i 55 Be 14 28 10%-20%
RENKEERRHE 20%-33.3%
AE 20%-25%

A B ZEFE+ " RB=Z+—H &EH
MR EANRGEBEA4ERREEES
1,906,000 7T (T2 "4 . FIgrfAEA15
F R IREEA2,044,00057T) WS +#&
BFAREBRSHHENRTEEERR

AEEAZE T HRIBTHY RSN
FFRT A o 17845 fF i — JUH 1 B8 2
ZE o

Annual Report 2023 — & — = FFR 141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nis

AR e MR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE —Z —=F+_HA=1+—HILFE
14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. FRHEEE
Leasehold
Leasehold land and
lands buildings Total
HELH AEIMKIEF 4mst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2021 KRB _—F+"A=+—H 2,877 979 3,856
Depreciation e (79) (621) (700)
Inception of lease contracts RIEEEY - 1,854 1,854
Exchange difference ERELE (224) (57) (281)
As at 31 December 2022 RIE2ZZF+ZRB=+—H 2,574 2,155 4,729
Depreciation TE (75) (966) (1,041)
Inception of lease contracts BIHEEEY - 1,341 1,341
Exchange difference ERELE (72) (16) (88)
As at 31 December 2023 RIZ2Z=F+ZHB=+—H 2,427 2,514 4,941

142

For both years, the Group leases a workshop and factories for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
two to eight years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns a factory located in Mainland China
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The
Group is the registered owner of the property interests, including
the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the property interests. The leasehold land
components of the owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE255EE (TR BRAFT

RzmEFEE AERBETHKREERR
RE - HESWETHRAMEE \FH
A B R B E > B3 NERTRRIE M -
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fil o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 14. ERRESE @
Leases of workshop and factories are with fixed lease payments IS ABENHEEREHERNEREEERE
over the lease term. NE/
2023 2022
ZEZ=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases BITHAITA E B RANMAX 102 -
Total cash outflow of leases HERERHBEE 1,164 689
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 1,341 1,854
15. INVENTORIES 15. 7 &
2023 2022
—EI=H ECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Raw materials R AT 24,723 24,746
Work in progress TR 11,195 8,060
Finished goods SR 272 3,983
36,190 36,789
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16.

17.

144

CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets represent the retention receivables of
approximately HK$27,289,000 (2022: HK$19,291,000) net
of allowance for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$623,000 (2022: HK$278,000). Retention receivables are
unsecured, interest-free and recoverable at the end of the defect
liability period of individual contracts, ranging from 6 months to
2 years from the date of delivery of finished goods to customers.
The retention receivables are transferred to trade receivables
based on the expiry of the defect liability period. The defect
liability period serves as an assurance-type warranty that the
products transferred by the Company comply with agree —
upon specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased
separately. The following is an analysis of contract assets at the
end of the reporting period:

16. BNEE

EHNEERCEREREEBEEEHEY
27,289,000/ 7T (ZZ - 4 : 19,291,000
7o) B £ EELA623,0008 T (CE - =
278,000/ T) WEKFREE - BUBREES
EIKF - RERAIREHONS BRERRK
B REHENFEREE TR S HHTE
ANEEEME-EBRFREENREREM
FEEBEEENE SRR REBALAT
BREHOTERREEERNERFREER
BZREBFEBBEE - U TARIRSER
BNBENDT:

2023 2022

—E-= ECF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within one year R—FRN 20,676 12,417
After one year R—F% 6,613 6,874
27,289 19,291

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. FEUR B 5 AR R B EL fth FE U rR IR

2023 2022

=g = BT F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FHEx

Trade receivables FEWE 7 IR 57,281 80,653
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EERBRE (920) (1,081)
56,361 79,572

Other receivables, prepayment and deposits EMAEWFUIE BT HIERIZS 5,767 5,474
62,128 85,046
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E —E —=F+_HA=+—HILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continies)  17. FEUR B 5 BRFX B Hh FE U 7R 1B

Trade receivables

Payment terms with customers are mainly on credit together
with deposits received in advance for new customers. The
Group allows credit period with a range from 0 to 90 days (2022:
0 to 90 days) to its trade customers. A longer credit period may
be granted to large or long established customers with good
payment history. The following is an analysis of trade receivables
by age, presented based on the invoice date.

)
e B 5 AR 7R

HEERINREREBUEELNET I
mfERRENREE cEERHESE
FRENEERNFOEWXH (CTE-Z

0F90H) - REHFAERAMA MR
NERIERBRREEN UTHEREE
HEAZ5)iZEREC B DRV E SRR DM

2023 2022

—E=F —ECF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FET

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 28,278 43,993
31 - 60 days 31Z260H 8,652 10,294
61 — 90 days 61290H 3,143 7,424
91 - 180 days 91Z2180H 7,308 8,982
181 — 365 days 181&365H 3,997 5,308
Over 1 year Bad1aE 4,983 3,571
56,361 79,572

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customers. Recoverability of the existing customers is reviewed
by management of the Group regularly.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$22,267,000 (2022: HK$28,555,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, approximately HK$11,023,000 (2022:
HK$13,093,000) has been past due 90 days or more and the
Directors of the Company considered there has been no default
occurred as these trade receivables are still considered fully
recoverable due to long-term/on-going relationship and good
repayment record from these customers. Details of impairment
assessment of trade and other receivables are set out in note
26.

REREAHERZA AEE ST BT
ERNEEERIBEERNEERE 7
EEEEESEMRARAZE RN
Mo

R_E_=ZFE+"_R=+—8 > xEENE
W B Z IR AR BB R M AR (B 4922,267,000
B (ZEZF 28,555,000 ) BIER
FOHRBEHSHER e waiAA GRS
#911,023,0008 75 (Z= — — 4 : 13,093,000
Bt) BEHOHFU L RABEERA
WHEBREELY AR EZERANESR 7
ERGRRZEEANENCRREEY  Fitsz
LRWE Z RN RE T 2 HURE - FEW
B SRR EMEWFIEN B E TGS
B HIEE26
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 812 —F _=F+_F=+—HILFE

18. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) DIRECTORS

18. FEUL (f3) ESHMIE

2023 2022
—E=F —ETTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Amount due from a director: FEW—EENE .
— Mr. Leung Ka Wai —RRELE 5 18
Maximum amount outstanding for amount R ENEWEEZHIENES
due from a director during the year: KRERTEE .
— Mr. Leung Ka Wai —RRETE 18 18
Amount due to a director: FE—REEMIE
— Mr. Wan Man Keung —FHRREE - (49)

All the balances are unsecured, interest-free, non-trade nature
and repayable on demand as at 31 December 2023 and 31

W E_=F+_"_A=4+—HAKR_-ZE__
F+"B=1+—H FBEAREAERIKE-

December 2022. RENFFESMERERERER.
19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 19. SR1TEE R RIRE
2023 2022
—EZ= —ET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT
Bank balances and cash IRITHERRIRE 53,000 40,941
Short-term bank deposits maturing after —ER &N ERIRITER

three months - 30,150
53,000 71,091
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 19. IRITH B RIAE @
The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits maturing —ERBIHBNRRHRRITERERM AR
after three months was Nil (2022: 4.6% per annum). TR TE L G54.6%)
Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market interest rates. IRITAERIZIRITM IS B o
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. BB B IR R HME G TRIE
2023 2022
—EC=HF TETTH
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT
Trade payables FETE F AR 19,956 33,717
Bill payables N 1,764 7,033
21,720 40,750
Accruals and other payables st ER R EME [ IE 5,418 11,266
Other loans HiER 2,915 15,477
30,053 67,493
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE —Z —=F+_HA=1+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 20. B+ B S IR KR H & 47k
#)
The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranged HEFRAERRENEEHRNFOR75H
from O to 75 days (2022: 0 to 75 days). The following is an (ZEZZH 0E75H) - UTARERS
aging analysis of trade and bill payables presented based on the BRZEZEHRZINNENEZRARE
invoice dates at the end of each reporting period: BARER DA
2023 2022
—EZ= S =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 4,385 10,590
31 - 60 days 31Z260H 11,862 15,785
61 — 90 days 61Z290H 4,815 4,739
Over 90 days BiEo0H 658 9,636
21,720 40,750
The Group’s bill payables are denominated in USD. AEENENERUETE.
The accruals and other payables mainly consist of accrual of FEtERAKEMENHRBETECEES
staff salaries and benefits, other payable of a related party and THekEM 5 EMEMREREE
accrual of operating expenses. Mz EETER °
As at 31 December 2023, other payable of a related party WS _=ZFE+_A=+—H ¥ HM
amounted to nil (2022: HK$4,341,000) which is unsecured, BARERE (T "F 1 4,341,000/ 7T)
interest free and repayable on demand. B EARIEF - REREERER.
As at 31 December 2023, the other loans represent an RIE_=F+"B=+—H HMER
unsecured loan from a third party amounted to RMB2,500,000 E—2FE=ZFARENEEFEAARE
(equivalent to HK$2,741,000), which carry interests of 3.88% 2,500,0007t (185 522,741,000 7T) » ZE™
per annum and repayable within one year after the end of the FEFIZE3.88% T ERBENRBREGHRE —F
reporting date. ANER -
As at 31 December 2022, the other loans mainly represent: (i) an RIEZ_F+ZHA=+—8 > Hth&Ex=*
unsecured loan from a third party amounted to RMB2,500,000 ZiE () RFZARENERFERAER
(equivalent to HK$2,820,000), which carry interests of 4.17% #52,500,0007T (FH5 522,820,000 7T) > % &
per annum and repayable within one year after the end of TIEFEFTIATR ERBERBREHIAEB—
the reporting date; and (i) an unsecured loan from a related FREE; RiIMREHLABDRERIEFE
company amounted to RMB10,800,000 (equivalent to AR 110,800,0007t (1HZ55%12,183,0007%
HK$12,183,000), which carry interests of 4.17% per annum and 7O ZETIRENFEANTR T ERBRERE
repayable within one year after the end of the reporting date. Hig—FmER
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21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

21. 5498 %E

2023 2022
—E=F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#T FHET
Sales of low-voltage electrical power HERBREEREIIEGIREE
distribution and control devices 1,350 2,546

The Group receives a deposit for sales contracts from certain
new customers which gives rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contracts exceeds the amount of the deposit. Contract
liabilities are analysed and classified as current liabilities as
the contract liabilities are expected to be unutilised in normal

rEEBETHZERRIBESNRS
RENRERELESNEaR EEMBEBS
HEDHNRDBBRESERILE -BINEH
BERARE-—REE

PAN
/i

BEHRNESE ¥
NEBEARBEED T RDE FER:
BRI EE 42,164,000 T (CE - 4 .

operating cycle. During the year, revenue recognised amounting 7,739,000 7T) st AFHINEGHNEG-
to HK$2,164,000 (2022: HK$7,739,000) was included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year.
22, LEASE LIABILITIES 2. fHE AR
2023 2022
—E=F —ETTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Lease liabilities payable: FERESE !
Within one year —FRN 971 773
Within a period of more than one year i —FERBE HFHAE
but not more than five years 1,690 1,482
2,661 2,255
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RRBaEE T RAR
12 months shown under current liabilities 12BE NG ENEER (971) (773)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R IERBEEBE FFIRER
shown under non-current liabilities 12 B BEENSEE 1,690 1,482

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 4.90% to 5.00% (2022: from 4.90%
to 5.00%).

EEREEEaENMEFLYIEE2ERNF
KNF490%E5.00% (ZE -
4.90%FE5.00%) °

AT
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e SRR
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE —Z —=F+_HA=1+—HILFE
23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 23. RIERIBEE
Accelerated
tax
Tax Loss depreciation Total
MIEkS1E IR I E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_"&#—HF—H 646 (646) -
(Charge) credit to profit or loss MRS (N st ABR (79) 79 =
At 31 December 2022 W_E2-__F#+"B=+—H 567 (567) -
(Charge) credit to profit or loss Bz (0B 5t AR (567) 124 (443)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+_"_A=+—H - (443) (443)
24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, fg 7
2023 2022
—RT=8 —Eq2-
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
Ak 4E] Eti] 1 EE £ %8
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
T FET Fh FET

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 EREIEEPER
each in the share capital of HE{E0.017& T
the Company (“Share(s)”) @R (ThR1%1)
Authorised: ERE -
At 1 January and 31 December B —A—BX
+—-_A=+—H 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid: BEITRBERR
At 1 January and 31 December R —H—HX&
+-_A=+—H 1,800,000 18,000 1,800,000 18,000
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25. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities comprising
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes other loans, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to the owners of the Group, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a continuous basis. As part of this review, the management of
the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends and new share issues as well
as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

25.
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26.

152

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. TR
Categories of financial instruments SR T EEER
2023 2022
—ET=F —ETTHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REBIEN AT 2N EREE 111,151 152,406
Financial liabilities ERAaE
Amortised cost 35 Al A 27,296 58,531

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, amount due from a director, restricted bank
balance, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
amount due to a director and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The subsidiaries of the Company have sales and purchases
denominated in currencies other than their functional currency,
which exposes the Group to foreign currency risk. The carrying
amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities (excluding inter-company
balances) at the end of the reporting date are as follows:

26. R TR @

TREREEERKRER @

T35 E B

B
FRBWBARBEUAINEERELUSINEE
EENHERRE LS AEEmEINEE
BoMBE AR EEBRENINESHESR
REERER (FEELQBBEE NREE
mE

2023 2022
TET=F B HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Assets BE
MOP pedualict 1,020 5,263
RMB AR 5 5
usD ET 55 56
AUD BT 35 35
Liabilities aE
Usb =7t 1,764 7,033
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26.

154

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency
of USD, which is arising from relevant group entities’ foreign
currency denominated monetary liabilities for the Group’s
operating activities. As HK$ is pegged to USD, hence the group
entities with functional currency of in HK$ are not considered
by the directors of the Company to have significant exposure to
USD currency risk and no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
No sensitivity analysis for the currency risk of MOP, RMB and
AUD are prepared as the directors of the Company consider the
impact of such foreign currency risk are insignificant.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to lease liabilities (see note 22 for details) and other loans (see
note 20 for details). The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, mainly interest-bearing bank
balances at variable interest rates. The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2022: 50 basis points) increase or decrease in bank
balances, is used which represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates on bank balances had been 50 basis points
(2022: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all of other variables
were held constant, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 would increase/decrease approximately by
HK$263,000 (2022: HK$345,000).

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT
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26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective financial assets at amortised cost
and contract assets recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group is responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regards, the management of the Group considers that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances based on provision
matrix.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as at 31
December 2023 on trade receivables from the Group’s 5 major
customers, which amounted to approximately HK$35,175,000
(2022: HK$54,366,000), and accounted for 62% (2022: 68%) of
the Group’s total trade receivables. The major customers of the
Group are certain reputables organisations who have long term/
on-going trading relationships with the Group and have good
repayment records. The management of the Group considers
that the credit risk is limited in this regard.
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26.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit

26. £ TR @
BEHEREE ®

TRAREE

EE R R REN L @

AEENABEE

= hll

Trade receivables/

B b5 4k B ER 85 U T

rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
REME T4 3R BUWE SRR SNEE HMESHEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
does not have any history of default not credit-impaired
ERERE BFERNENRRE R FIAIRESE 2HTEIAE BB 12 @A E /18
—RIEERIE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRHR EHEABBRIBEHRER E—R2YEE 2HBREESE 12 @A TEHREER1E
—mEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - not
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
RIR BRMGERSSNIRRER DM RERE 2HEHREESE 2 HTEHAEEE
EERBRBEAREEM —mEERE —mEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - credit-
credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired
E518 FHEERTEECREERNE 2 HTEIEESE 2 HTEIEERE
—EEHE —EEHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery or
the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner
s FHEBERTEBAENREMBRERE  RIECME FIEE
EE Y R ERKEIHIEN O] SRS B AR
MENE URBEELEERE)
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for AEERBEEBEYBRESEAFEIRRESE

expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade
receivables and contract assets.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables and contract assets which are assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022 within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired). Debtors with
credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of HK$nil as at 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$204,000) were assessed individually.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

26. R TR @

TREREEERKRER @

EERMFRBEF G @

Gross carrying amount FRETAE(E

2023 2=
Average Trade Contract
loss rate receivables assets
THEEE RWRESRR BHNEE
Internal credit rating HK$’000 HK$’000
A EB1E E T4k FET FHT
Low risk HEE 0.42% 27,030 11,978
Watch list BEHER 2.76% 29,433 15,934
Doubtful RER 15.77% 818 -
57,281 27,912

2022 B THF

Average Trade Contract
loss rate receivables assets
THEBEEX RREZIERER BHNEE
Internal credit rating HK$’'000 HK$'000
A EBE E 5T 4R FET FAET
Low risk HE 1.02% 78,235 17,419
Watch list BEHER 412% 2,214 2,150
Loss RER 100% 204 -
80,653 19,569

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is reasonable,
supportable and available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided
HK$48,000 and HK$352,000 (2022: recognised reversal of
HK$221,000 and HK$56,000) impairment allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets respectively.

L EERREFT AR FHRRABERR
PRIREMNXRMLE RERGE - ARERE
ANETVENNAHE BRI ERF B A
EHERFLHRAE - DEHEEETHE
B UEFRERFTEEBANBHAEN SR
ME -

HE_E_-_F+-RB=1+—HILLEE K
EEMERESRAKREGHEEDBIRM
(B 5 48,0008 75 52352,0008 75 (Z &
T T FESREE[E1221,0007 75 K& 56,0007

7T) °
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuead)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified

26. £ TR @

ERAMEEEEREE @

EER M FHE G @)

TRIVTRBBEESMEYE Z RN E

R EHBEMEEBEZS-

approach.
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit—
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATEHA 2 HATEHA
&8 EEkSIE
(BIZERAE) (E8RE) #ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET
As at 1 January 2022 R_ZE__F#—H—H 893 - 893
Net impairment losses recognised & FES2 I (B 518548 17 204 221
Exchange adjustment E R EEE (33) - (33)
As at 31 December 2022 and .= - =
1 January 2023 +-A=+—HK
2 -F—A—H 877 204 1,081
Net impairment losses recognised B &SR (B E5 18528 48 - 48
Write-off 6] - (204) (204)
Exchange adjustment PE R AR (5) - (5)
As at 31 December 2023 AT
+=-B=+—H 920 - 920
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for contract assets under the simplified

26. R TR @

N

EERMFRBEF G @

BEBERER @

TRITREBCEZENENEERTH
EHFEREEERES-

approach.
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit—
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATEHA 2 HATREA
EEEE EEE#E
(BIZERAE) (EERE) “Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET FHET
As at 1 January 2022 i — ey = = 236 - 236
Net impairment losses recognised & FESR IR (B E5 18548 56 - 56
Exchange adjustment EREE (14) = (14)
As at 31 December 2022 and .= - =
1 January 2023 +-A=+—HK
2 -F—A—H 278 - 278
Net impairment losses recognised B &SR (B E5 18528 352 - 352
Exchange adjustment FER AR (7 = (7)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEI=%F
+_-_BA=+—H 623 - 623
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. T H @

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuead)

The trade receivables that are credit impaired are assessed
for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit
impaired trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit losses.

The movements in the lifetime ECL of trade receivables are as
follows:

ERAMEEEEREE @

EE R R BEEE @

EEREEKEZIRNENETHEBEES
EEET G S ERERWE Z IR 1E
BeRBEREERABAGTRKIBEERE
REZEMNERA2 EREEABEERKE

Ei5i8e

BWEZERANE2HAREEERZIHU
T

2023 2022
= S
Not Credit- Credit- Not Credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired

®mERRME (EARE =EREAE  ERRE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET F#ET THETT THET

At 1 January K—HB—H 877 204 893 =
(Reversal of impairment losses)  CEi{EESE ) BIE

impairment loss, net k= peE
— Transferred to credit -impaired ~—¥ A {E R E - - (122) 122
— Settlement of trade debtors —B5EBAGE (348) - 613) =
— One trade debtor with a —— R ABEEEES

gross carrying amount of 204,000 7t 89

HK$204,000 defaulted B EBNEN - - - 82
— Write-off —H 35 - (204) = =
— New trade receivables — MG EWE F R 396 - 752 =

48 (204) 17 204

Exchange adjustment E R AR (5) - (33) =
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 920 - 877 204

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra M IRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —_E_=F+_F=+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. T H @

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables and contract assets
when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier.

The credit risk on amount due from a director is limited because
the management of the Group have a good understanding on
the financial background and abilities to repay the debts.

In determining the ECL for other receivables and rental deposits,
the management of the Group has taken into account the
historical default experience and forward-looking information,
as appropriate, for example, the Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection with
payments, and concluded that credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding other receivables is insignificant.

The management of the Group considers the bank balances
and restricted bank balance that are deposited with the financial
institutions with high credit rating to be low credit risk financial
assets. The management of the Group considers the bank
balances are short-term in nature and the probability of default
is negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers, and
accordingly, loss allowance was considered as insignificant.

TREREEERKRER @

EE R R BETEE @
EFTEENRTNETABRRBRET HHH
K fEE RN ERIEN A g BNE B AE
ABBRNEARERFRF AEEKREZR
T EAMEN E UREEEERE) » K&
EMEERE SR RENEE-

MR AEENEEEHNEENUBER
BEEEHNENERENT# HEKR—%
EEWENEERRAR-

EEHEMBWHREREERENRAEE
BER AEEEEECETRBEENLR
RETEMEER WAER - Pl xEBEE
BENRARNFERENBREREOR I
SRS A E H R UELEY H A IR
RZEREERBILEAER

FEBEEBRREASEENREMERE
IRTTHEGRAZRARTESRAEEER
BETMEE - AEEBTEERR LEFRT
EERBEMAME REEEFRIETAE
2 BHYAIEMMAEE  HEREBRE
RALAFBEKX-
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. T H @

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

The management of the Group has built a liquidity risk
management framework for managing the Group’s short and
medium-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities
and by continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows
and the maturity profiles of its financial liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
to reflect the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

TREREEERKRER @

MEBNE £ AR
FEEEEBEERUMBES AREERE
2o NEBAEENERRTHES R
EEEEER - FEEEBERFRITHRER
FEERBARBERREREREESRE
BRIRER AEERBESARE -

TRFATERTHEENER TSR
RUETREERMEMBEENEAERD
FEAZNHNRFARNIFINRESZRE-T
ROFENERFERERE

On demand Total Total
or less than 1tob Over undiscounted carrying
1 year years 5 years cash flows amount
EEZX FMRRE

FR-FR  —EELf RENE MR ERE A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TER TEr TAr TER

31 December 2023 “ET-E+"AZ+-H
Trade and bill payables EVERRIKES 21,720 - - 21,720 21,720
Other loans HHER 2915 - - 2915 2915
Lease liablities HEaR 1,102 1,826 - 2,028 2,661
25,737 1,826 - 27,563 27,296

31 December 2022 2T CE+°A=1-H
Trade and bill payables ENERRIKER 40,750 - - 40,750 40,750
Other loans HEtES 15,629 - - 15,629 15,477
Amount due to a director Efi—2EEHE 49 = = 49 49
Lease liablities fHEak 885 1615 - 2,500 2,255
57,313 1615 = 58,928 58,531
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

27.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of the financial assets and liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising

26. R TR @
ERITEATESZE

ARBEEBREEMBRERALHHFL
FEBWHEMEMEEREBRKRSHR

PEREESEEAFEEES -

27. MEEHEE 2 B RAVHER

TREVAEERETHELEZEENE

from financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing activities FoMEAEL  ARIEREMNEELEHK
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, RAEBEREFETLRE RERER
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows AR fEAMEEEREREC8E
from financing activities.
Lease Other
liabilities loans Total
HEaE Hth&™® et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 A—E-&E—A—H 1,068 7,590 8,658
Additions of lease liabilities EAREEaR 1,854 - 1,854
Financing cash flows MERSRE (689) 8,226 7,537
Interest accrued FESTH S 87 532 619
Exchange adjustments fE R EE (65) 671) (936)
At 31 December 2022 R F
+=-B=+—H 2,255 15,477 17,732
Addition of lease liabilities BAHESR 1,341 - 1,341
Financing cash flows MERSRE (1,062) (12,411) (13,473)
Interest accrued FESTH 2 145 208 353
Exchange adjustments fE R (18) (359) (377)
At 31 December 2023 AT =4
+=-B=+—H 2,661 2,915 5,576
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28.

29.

164

COMMITMENTS
Capital Commitment

The Group had the following capital commitment in respect of
investment in a subsidiary at the end of reporting period.

28. HiE

B KIE

AEBRBEHREE T ERARKBEL
IR BRI E AR

2023 2022
—E=F —ECF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted, but not provided for BEETANERER
— committed investment in a subsidiary —PHBABNEERE 1,000 1,000
RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 29, RIKEFI 512!

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, the employees
are required to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or up
to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’'s monthly contributions
are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to
a maximum of HK$1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). The
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or
total incapacity.

The employees of the group entities in Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of Mainland China. The Group are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
plan is to make the specified contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$3,666,000
(2022: HK$3,890,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023
represents contributions payable to these schemes. As at
31 December 2023, contributions of HK$118,000 (2022:
HK$122,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not
been paid. The amount were paid subsequently after the end of
the reporting period.

REM Group (Holdings) Limited 23ZBE25&£E (T8 BRAT
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30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as disclosed in other notes, during the year, the Group
entered into the following transactions with its related parties:

30. FERFKE

PBREMMIEPAREEIN REFE > x&H
BHRAERTUNTRS !

(a) Related party transactions (a) FAESFRS

2023 2022

Nature of —E=F BT TF

transactions HK$’000 HK$'000

REME FET FHET

Sales of goods HE B m Note (i), (i, (i), (iv) 1,150 1,498

HraE0) ~ i)~ (i), (iv)

Purchase of raw materials BEREME Note () 986 35
Mz

External Further Process HNERSEIN T8 BN AL A Note () 1,014 766
Labour cost gzl

Consultancy fee BHE Note (i) 655 336
igza0)]

Payments of leases HEMR Note (v) 720 390
Bzt

Interest expenses on other loans HEzH EM% Note (vj) 214 409
Hiat )

Note (i)

Note (i)

Note (i)

Note (iv)

The Group entered into transactions with Ready System
Engineering Limited (related company in Hong Kong),
Mr. Wan Man Keung, the chairman and an executive
director of the Company, has equity interest in the related
company during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022.

The Group entered into transactions with Shenzhen
Jianda Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. (related
company in Mainland China), a related company under
the control of Mr. Wan Man Keung, the chairman and an
executive director of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group entered into transactions with Shenzhen City
Jianda Machine Equipment Co., Ltd. (related company
in Mainland China), a related company under the control
of Mr. Wan Man Keung, the chairman and an executive
director of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Group entered into transactions with the subsidiary
companies of SEM Holdings Limited (related company
in Hong Kong). Mr. Wan Man Keung, the chairman
and an executive director of the Company, has equity
interest in the related company during the year ended 31
December 2028.
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30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continuea

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

166

Note (v)

Note (vi)

The Group entered into rental agreement with Mr. Wan
Man Keung for the use of workshops. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into a new
rental agreement for the use of another workshop. The
Group has recognised lease liabilities of HK$1,623,000.

The Group entered into rental agreement with Ready
System Engineering Limited (related company in Hong
Kong) for the use of office during the year ended 31
December 2023. The Group has recognised lease
liabilities of HK$425,000.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with Shenzhen
City Jianda Machine Equipment Co., Ltd., a related
company in Mainland China under the control of Mr. Wan
Man Keung, the chairman and an executive director of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022.

The Group entered into other loan agreements with
Shenzhen Yongkeda Trade Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen
Jianda Construction Technology Service Co., Ltd., both
are related companies in Mainland China under the
control of Mr. Wan Man Keung, the chairman and an
executive director of the Company during the year ended
31 December 20283.

Details of other loans are set out in note 20.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management personnel of the Group
during the year is as follows:

30. FAERFIKE @
(a) BMEARS @

ez

B &)

rEBREFRBITEMEHER
DT-L%H Tg?] o fA E*Zj:_v__
+ZRA=+—HLEFERN x&EE
PMERAS —BEE L — 1 MAYE
EmE-AEEERIEEEE
1,623,000 7T ©

RBEZZ_=_F+"F=+—

HIEFER *EEE2ERRFT

BERAT (HENREBMAR) hE

BmAEIUEERZ ~EEE
07 & & 15425,000% 7 ©

RBEE_ZE_=F+"A=+—
HR-E-_-_F#+-H=+—H
tirgm’ﬂ:%@ﬁi%ﬂlﬁggﬁ%

REARAE (—EPERMES
“\1) SN ERHE ZEEA
BIRFRBAYE R ARANEER
HITES) &4l

REBEEZZ_=F+"F=+—
HIEFE > AEBERIHXRE
EESBERABRFIITREERR
KRB ABERAB T LHMER
% ME PR AR ERFR
BITE (RABNEFERANTES)
EHIBIRR AT ©

HERAIFIBHHI R HisE20

(b) TEEIBASZHM

REFE  ARBEZFRAERHEME
EEEASHFMNOT

2023 2022

—E-= —ETTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TFHET

Director fees BEREE 504 504

Salaries and other allowance i R H 2, 3,603 3,579
Retirement benefits scheme BRIREFIET BT

contributions 72 67

4,179 4,150

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined with regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

T2

EEABZHMMNDEFLER AL

WERRRHHBEMETE
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I

31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 23 April 2018, the Company adopted the share option
scheme as incentive or reward for contributions that directors,
employee, advisor, consultant, service provider, agent,
client, partner or joint venture partner of the Company or its
subsidiaries, and will expire on 23 April 2028. Pursuant to the
share option scheme, the Company may grant options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the share option scheme is 180,000,000
shares, representing 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
immediately upon completion of the public share offering and the
capitalisation issue.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time.

The subscription price for shares under the share option scheme
shall be determined by the Board, but in any event will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares on the
Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date of the particular option, which
must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing prices of
the shares as shown in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
offer date of the particular option; and (i) the nominal value of a
share on the offer date of the particular option.

No option had been granted or agreed to be granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the share option scheme from the
adoption date to 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE —Z —=F+_HA=1+—HILFE

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE  32. A BB A B 1S
COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the KABRREPEREZREEFENNES
Company of the end of reporting period are set out below: NEFEHIAT :
Place of Date of Equity interest
incorporation/ incorporation/ Paid-up capital/ attributable to the Group
Name of subsidiary operation establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities
L AT BHkE,/ sEER+-A=+—H
WEAR A R b i A8 AMEX pdi 353 4 IBEH
2023 2022
—TT=E “F-fF
Directly owned
EiBA
REM Capital BVI 7 November 2016 US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
REM Capital HERLHE —E—"E+—AtH50000%T REER
Indirectly owned
MiE%E
Ready Development Hong Kong 30 November 2018 HK$100,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
(China) Limited
2ERE (PE) BRAT & “2-\F 100,000%7T REER
+-B=+H
Ready Electrical Metal Hong Kong 25 August 1992 HK$1,500,000 100% 100%  Sales of low-voltage
Work Limited electrical power
distribution and control
devices
LERREEERERLAE A —hANZE 1,500,000 7t HERBRERENE
NBZ+ER HIE
Ready Enterprise Hong Kong 28 June 2007 HK$100,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
(China) Limited
SEEE (PE) BERAT & “ERtE 100,000%7T REER
~BZ+N\RH
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32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 32. xATIMBARE @

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Date of Equity interest
incorporation/ incorporation/ Paid-up capital/ attributable to the Group
Name of subsidiary operation establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities
BT B ATYe ESks/ *EAR+ZA=+-H
WEAE%E R i A8 AmER pd 3130 TERH
2023 2022
ZEI=F “Z2°CH
Guangzhou Quanda PRC-wholly owned 22 October 1993 HK$8,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales
Electric Appliance Metal foreign enterprise of low-voltage electrical
Products Co., Ltd"* power distribution and
ENzEEREBY control devices
mBRAF)
EMZEE %%%l%%u HE-SERELRX —ANZE 8,000,0007¢ RERHERERER
BRAT +BZ+ZH BNEHIEE
Dongguan Quanda PRC-wholly owned 17 January 2011 HK$30,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of low-
Mechanical & Electrical foreign enterprise voltage electrical power
Equipment Co., Ltd* (852 distrioution and control
PEREZHEERRAGD) devices
RR2EREREERAT TPE-NEBEERE “Z——F—F11H30,000,000%5T NERERERENE
HI%E
Dongguan Quanda PRC-wholly owned 14 January 2019 HK$9,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of low-
Electrical Equipment foreign enterprise voltage electrical power
Co, Lid* (B2 EE distribution and control
REBRRTF) devices
FRPEERXERRAD FE-HNEEECE —ZT—-NEF—F1+MHE9,000,000% T REMBEEERENE
s E

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 31
December 2023 or at any time during the year.

* For identification only.

LRI EERRTIEFELERXEN
EENERNFTEENBEAR EERHIR
HEMKMBEBLARNENBERRBERT
Eo

ERNBARSAR -_F_=F+_5
=+—BREREABEEENETAS
CEL

Y EHEE
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. IR &

2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Non-current assets JERENEE
Unlisted investment in subsidiaries R B AR ZIELHKE 81,578 81,578

Current assets TMENEE
Other receivables HhpEUshia 315 614
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B AR = IE 28,122 25,126
Bank balances and cash IRITMERRIRE 25,227 31,291
53,664 57,031
Current liabilities mEIaE

Other payables Hih g IE 310 600
Amount due to a subsidiary FES — M B A B 78 39 53
349 653
Net current assets MEEEZFE 53,315 56,378
Net assets BEEFE 134,893 137,956

Capital and reserves B AS S (5t
Share capital (&N 18,000 18,000
Reserves (Note) BB (D) 116,893 119,956
Total equity B 4BEE 134,893 137,956
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

34.

33. MBI AR @

(Continued)
Note: Bi&E -
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
BAD s E4REE RREE Ha%E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHET
At 1 January 2022 W2 —_F#—H—H 157,668 (32,550) 125,118
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREER L5
expenses for the year - (5,162) (5,162)
At 31 December 2022 A ZEZF+ZRA=+—H 157,668 (37,712) 119,956
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREERZALEE
expenses for the year - (3,063) (3,063)
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+Z"A=+—H 157,668 (40,775) 116,893

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparable figures have been reclassified and
represented to conform with the current period presentation.

34. [EBR#F

ETHERBFHEEMDEREIINAE

BIHARS 25487 o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AT

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilites and ZFEEBERAEHREENBTIHEBEURSE
equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted E -EBEREDZHOHNE BHEXARSRIBRE
from this report and the accountant’s report as contained in the F2FFE G sHETRE) HPX T xR

Prospectus, is set out below.

RESULTS e

Year ended 31 December
BE+-H=1+—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TEIoF TR TR T2 F “F-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
THET FHET FAET TFHET FAT

Revenue g 166,784 219,293 130,636 116,457 211,741
Profit (loss) before income tax ~ FRFF1S R ATEF] (B548) 7,983 8,347 (19,923) (34,817) 15,554
Income tax (expense) credit Frisi (B &% (985) (31) (242) 3,395 (4,093)
Profit (loss) for the year FEREA (B8 6,998 8,316 (20,165) (31,422) 11,461
Attributable to: TR ALTEEENGZH
(K518) -

Owners of the Company KANBIEB A 6,998 8,316 (20,165) (31,422 11,461

Non-controlling interests JEEER S - - - - -
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

As at 31 December

w+=ZBA=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2= TR TR 22T F T2 -NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHET FHT TFHET FHT THT

Total assets EEME 204,040 236,090 228,187 229,644 250,738
Total liabilities B1E4E%E (36,108)  (73,442) (67,900) (51,021) (44,102)
Total equity EmARER 167,932 162,648 160,287 178,623 206,636
Attributable to: UM AT
4a%E .
Owners of the Company KNBEER A 167,932 162,648 160,287 178,623 206,636
Non-controlling interests JEPERE R - - - - -
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